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RIEEE MORE (432) (365) (4,868) (5,665)
RERE 7,670 6,944 2,009 16,623

WA RITHE RS - BB EHAREI40007 (ZBEAF : T) RARM 677,000 (ZFTAF : ARK

998,0007t) (H1it7) °

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 16C110330174Notes
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/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

A M ERR M T

18 RBARNRE-ARQT

—E-%F “ETTAE
AR®F T ARBTT
BE—AREMRD WG 52,837 52,837
R Wi B 8 A B RRIA 312,350 150,585
FE BB R B RIR (2,094) (2,146)
JEdFENH B AR REAEIER 2R RARERKEE-
RIEBE-ZTF+_A=+—HB FEENFEHRBRAMT:
M BROTRBERE
=1 gy TEXRK AfER REER
ERBEHELR
XEBRAT EBRUEE REER LARI10%ET 100%
REERBERAT EBRUEE REER T iAR1,500,000% T 100%
BRERERERAT EBRUEE REER ¥ i 7%200,000% 7T 100%
REREBRAT EBRUEE REER i %5,000,000% 7T 100%
EBERARRA RBRUHE REERR LEBRIET 100%
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes
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iR e ISR I

18 RMIBATIMNIRE —AKRRQT (&)

HEmAL BRTRBERE
=1 ReEwH TEXK HEfER HEER
BEEERELE
BREXERRAA B ME ERBRIET 100%
XEBEBERBRAT BE REEK LimAR1,000%8 T 100%
REZBEXBRRAA BE REEK LimAR1,000%8 T 100%
BRERREERAT BE REEK LimAR1,000%8 T 100%
RBEEBEXBRAA BE REEK LimAR1,000%8 T 100%
MMRERERBERAR  HE é“‘?r&ifz JREEMIHAK . HEMER 100%
St RRETBEERE 11,000,000 7&
IMERBRERBERLAR HE Rt RAERENE & A 100%
10,000,000 7
MNREREEBERAR  HE R REEEMBIEMIMRAK & 7A3,000,000%7T 100%
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes




83

/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

iR a SRR N R

18 RMIBATMNKRE—AKRRQT (&)

HEmERL BRTRMERK
% FE-$iut TEER &R REER
MMNRERBBEERAR HE PN T B % i THIR &R 100%
15,000,000% 7T
FRRERERBARRA  HE BESMEEMIHK il & 75200,0003 7T 100%
Sky Thrive Rambaudi S.r.l. BEAA R REEBMEEMIKK  L®AR10,00080 T 100%
19 RABEZEFIERNRE-FEERE QT
rEE AN
—E-2F —ZETNF —E-ZF —ZTTNF

ARBT R ARBTT ARBF ARETT

RARZEHERNIRE
FEAS FL R B B 88 5K IR

8,192
(7,335)

- 8,192 -

REAR RNAREFERENMERFRZEHNER -FHMT:

- RZZE—ZFF— ARt A KAFMFAnest lwata Feeler Corporation ([AIF]) B3 & AZEINEE

1,155,0003 7t ({8& A A R #7,861,0007T) ° AIFFR AR

s —

A —f8 % =7 2 @ Anest lwata Corporation

(TAIC)) BRAR B Z &R A T8 — B A 21 % Anest lwata Taiwan ([AIT ) R ZZEZ N E/R T - BBINT

Ei& NN F - AICKAITRAIFE A B 5 Bl 235%  35%K30% ©

mfI Bk o

AARRAEGEFNEBERAIFKE

- RIZT-—ZF+A ARFEHE L0000 T (HERARK331,0007T) 1 AHangzhou Nippon Cable
Feeler Corporation ([NC ) Bzt & 7K - NCFE AR 7] &k — [ 5 =75 2 §Company and Nippon Cable

Co., Ltd ([NCJ) KL AR R R NCH A B #E % /% B50% °

°©
AR

RE-FT-TF+-A

AR R R A B A A AR AT

S+—RLEFE ORAXFARHEROKASELTEA -

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 16C110330174Notes
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)
e
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b
i
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ol
=
di
X}
Sl
‘,g:E
3
m
T
S
g
3
B
13'!
¥

21 BB BRERAARE-FKEREKAF

AEH PN
—2-BF -—TTHF -B-FF -TTNF
AR¥ T AREFIT ARET T AREF T
g BRI RN EE 381,143 230,114 - -
B E SRR SR E R (29,656) (25,866) - -
E PR —F8E 351,487 204,248 - -
TE 5K 42,091 30,778 - -
H b e AR 3R 34,720 27,114 154 942
JEWBR T & RFENFIBEA T 428,298 262,140 154 942

AREE—RETHEPIEIORGHER - AKRETAFELPRELS THINAREELERESEEER —FRER

MREE-

RIZE-—ZEFR-_ZTZNF+_A=1+—H0 BFRUREALBREENREITAOT

At

—B-2F —ETNF
AR®T T ARETTT
EEHRN - 30K 293,558 165,767
31 - 60K 10,508 10,008
61 - 90K 11,510 2,081
91 - 180K 17,326 7,876
180A A k= 48,241 44,382
381,143 230,114
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes
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/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

iR a SRR N R

21 BWERF RERFENREB-XEBRAD T (&)

REHETHERNZELEBEESNERE-—RB—FR-

AEENE S REWERBEEREELD R AR66,351,0007T (

— ==

N ARM46,479,0007T ) B FE W AR 5K - 5%

RER_ZEZ-ZF+-_A=+—HEBHRE MAKEUEMRIELREBERRE - KZRBZEERE S RKE
RNEZHE ERAANBEERCTHR EERR/RSTHREEEHRBAIRE - AEEY BERZFERTAE
R o - %5 B 5 USRI B\ R X Re 8% -

BEEIY RBENE 5B ERERROREDHTOT

—g-%F —TTAE
AREF ARBF

0-30K 10,208 7,998
31 - 60K 10,164 10,008
61 - 90K 10,998 2,081
91 -180K 16,382 7,876
180K LA | 18,599 18,516
66,351 46,479

HE - Z—ZF+-AF=+—H" ' AR29,6560007C ( —ZZ N F: AR#E25,866,0007T)H)EZ 5 & U BR 7 E I8 R
BEXEREFE AR EERENERFEEESRRABALERRENRE SRR ERRD T

—z-2% —EEAE
91 -180K 14 -
618 A A E 29,642 25,866

29,656 25,866

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 16C110330174Notes




—E-TEFR /) REERERERLTE /86

e R HmAR R

21 BWERF RERFANREB-XEBRAD T (&)

JEWE SFIERERENEESHNT

—E-ZF —ETNF

ARETx ARET T
wn—HA—H 25,866 38,177
JEUR SRIB R (B B 5,540 -
A B B K R O] B i £ /O B Uk FE (1,750) -
BiEEE - (12,311)
R+-A=+—H 29,656 25,866

EMRERERENENLER Bt ARG RERN [Ha2BER A (HE7) - NEERIENTE-—RE
RTEE A BE UK [0 B SN & B i sH o

W E 5 FR R M EEGRIBENEMBEN TR REEE-

AREB YIRS Ze MIANFRNREEA NI E%EE:

—E-EF —ETNF

AR T AREFIT

ARETT 395,317 239,097
ETT 23,862 20,898
BT 3,487 -
Hip g 5,632 2,145
428,298 262,140

RBEBH mRNESEERRA DESEREFENERE AREYESAETAERRERER-

Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes
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/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

iR a SRR N R

22 FE-X&H

—E-ZF —EThF

ARET T ARET T

R AR 126,894 103,496
EE & 101,499 53,420
2Rk i 115,356 57,416
343,749 214,332

B 15 (1,920) (4,798)
341,829 209,534

BRARIRBOER WK A 17 KA A A R%957,498,0007T (ZEZ N F : ARMS529,175,0007T) (Ff 5+

7) e

FA-AREE RO EE R ARYE3,6750007CE AU AR RS - AR B ERBARFEEERB EASHHTEM

HE - %FEA N REEERER K-

23 Bl (BN BEFENIRRE-F£H

—E-FF —ETAEF

AR®BT T ARET T

BESA N INGRER G MR RERER 202,114 192,639
A LR KIE (194,845) (194,017)
7,269 (1,378)

—E-EF —ZETNF

AR®TT ARET T

B E HE P FRIA 22,943 17,198
JERE TP RIE (15,674) (18,576)
e (M) BPANIRAIIERSE 7,269 (1,378)

R-F-—FFEF+_A=+—0B BUEEATERETFIAOIEFBNR

AKE#2,019,0007T) °

8 A R#2,061,0007T ( ZZEZE N F:

Company Name: Good Fri (B)

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 16C110330174Notes




24 RFIMEERITIEK

ZERREARBRAEANEZRE TARHMERMFRNBITOFR - BRFRR —FRRE WIREEF

FME0.36% (ZFFTNF:036% )51 E -

25 RERALSEN-FRBREAAT

“E-ZEER / RERREERARLT /

e R HmAR R

KEH KA F
—E2-FF —ETNF —EF-FF —EENF
ARET T ARET T ARETx ARET T
RITRFERS 61,645 66,137 2,745 1,704
EHR TR 99,400 2,000 - -
RekREEED 161,045 68,137 2,745 1,704
26 BRA-—AEBRALQT
BRoER
(Fm]) HE
ARETIT
FREE0.01BTHEER
JETE

RZE—ZEF+_A=+—"HRERZZEZAF+_A=1+—H 1,000,000 10,211
BEITRET:

RZEENF+=_A=+—H 336,000 3,431
—E-EF-A—HNEVEH 336,000 3,431
BT EFTRE 67,200 591
R-E—ZFF+-_A=+—H 403,200 4,022

RZZ-ZF=ZA+N\B ARAEESH (KRAQRF -RFETHERB) 145588 (ARK3.1217T) #17
ZEBEFEBRBEERERF RS LM  ANR RIEEPTS IR % B £9956,000,000
#ats (FRER K AR%206,000,0007T) © A5 5KIEH 4) A R#155,000,0007C 75 B AR A BLE A E A H B A8 4 7

67,200,000(7 & & F L /RE &

VATE R RRINGE & AN R R R 49 A R #51,000,0007T 5B A IAE N IRITREE -

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
File name: 16C110330174Notes

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas
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/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

iR a SRR N R

27 RE-FEBEREQF

E
Hih i
¥

R EE RAFE — BB BrfEE BrE REEF @t
ARETRE ARETn ARETn AR¥ETn AR®Tn AR®TR AR¥Tx
RZZEENFE—-A—H 66,596 77.338 28,090 9,089 - 144,566 325,679
BEARE - - - - - (50,400) (50,400)
R PNE - - - - - 84,145 84,145
RERER - - - - - - -
RZZENF+-A=+—H 66,596 77,338 28,090 9,089 - 178,311 359,424
BITREFIRE 205,196 - - - - - 205,196
BERKRE - - - - - (108,864) (108,864)
FREF - - - - - 158,746 158,746
ERmE R - - - - (161) - (161)
RERER - - 7,746 - - (7,746) -
R-E-ZF+-F=1+—H 271,792 77,338 35,836 9,089 (161) 220,447 614,341

MaT -

() BAREBERARAROREBMERZMERAR ETAAEEETHRATNEATARTRAEETRHEBOMNER
AEMBAR AR EENERE-

—REERERBEARERETEAEMRERL

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR




27 BE-AEBRARQT (&)

28

“E-ZEER / RERREERARLT /

e R HmAR R

NG
BB BEE Hoib ke R ER et
ARETIT ARET T ARETIT ARETIT
RZEZhF—HA—H 66,596 12,136 47,747 126,479
BT & - - (50,400) (50,400)
EHE WA LB - - 75,826 75,826
#:ggniJr A=+—H 66,596 12,136 73,173 151,905
BITREFLRE 205,196 - - 205,196
B % B - - (108,864) (108,864)
ZHE WA LB - - 68,202 68,202
RZE—ZFF+-_A=+—H 271,792 12,136 32,511 316,439
EREF HttEAREFER -XEHE
—E-ZF —ETNF
ARET T ARET T
B S EMERR 167,285 157,174
REREFHNENEZS 218,106 95,053
H b fE A 3R 36,103 22,656
JEST R 2 32,563 16,772
454,057 291,655
REE—REBNZOANEERH R ZFLR_TTAF+_A=+—8 ZEHENMNEIRZEEITOT:
—E-ZF —ETNF
ARETx ARET T
1:1*? A - 30K 128,544 108,094
- 60K 25,296 13,224
— 90K 6,418 14,864
91 - 180K 4,373 20,846
180K A 2,654 146
167,285 157,174

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

File name: 16C110330174Notes
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/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

iR a SRR N R

28 BN HttENREGER-F5E @)
B BRK - E A B R AT B PR DA TSI A

—E-ZF —ETHhF
AR®T T AREFIT
ARETT 433,351 288,498
ETT 8,531 3,157
BT 12,175 -
454,057 291,655
29 RERE-—FEE
—E-EF —ETNF
ARETx ARET T
®n—H—H 5,204 4,426
F SR 9,465 4,282
bR (6,570) (3,504)
Rt+-—A=+—H 8,099 5,204
30 BE-FAEERAQT
KEHE
—E-EF —ETNF —E-ZF —ETAF
ARET T ARETF T ARET T ARET T
JE BN B
It 6614 10241 6614 10,241
BO A
B 980 32,973 -
445 168,204 84,324 46,295 37,548
o 169,184 17297 . 46,295 37,548
EE A% 175,798 127,538 52,909 47,789

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes




30 BE-FAKEBRARQT (&)

AEEBENERFZBELNT

“E-ZEER / RERREERARLT /

re MR M

TEH KA
—E-FF —ETAF —E-ZF —ETNhF
AR®T R AREFIT ARETR AREFTT
B = BFE1.45%F BF120%ZE BE1.4T%E FF1.62%
5.35% 5.75% 2.57% 24.18%
RZE—FF+_A=+—H AEBEEENEEBROT:
TEE KA T
—E-FF —ETNF —E-EF —ETNF
AR®ET T ARBEF T AR®T T AREF T
—FR 169,184 117,297 46,295 37,548
— =W 6,614 10,241 6,614 10,241

RZE—EF+_A=+—H AEEEHFEERES I AR13,847,0007T (H:E14) 7t & A R #25,911,0007T
(MIzE15) (ZZEZNHF : 9 5 AR BE14,156,0007T K A R #553,091,00070 ) B £ fF i RiEF  UIEREERN—

RRERTTRRE ©

N

REEFMNE237% (—TZNF  8F3NRFENRESREETE -

RHEENREERE QA FERS-

E-TFEF_A=1—H B ENQFESREAREE RARKTENZELTERMK-

ZNFETHE

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
File name: 16C110330174Notes
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/ REBREEARLTE / —Z-TFFRH

A M ERR M T

30 BE-AREBRARQT (&)

AEBEENREERTINEEE:

TEE RKAF
—E-FF —ETAF —E-ZF —EThF
ARET ARETF T ARET ARET T
ARETT 10,100 34,000 - -
BT 49,594 22,745 - -
ETT 116,104 70,793 52,909 47,789
175,798 127,538 52,909 47,789
RZZE—ZF+ZA=1+—HB AEEA NIRREINEERE:
AEE
—E-2F —ETNF
ARMT T ARETIT
FEFIEE R
——F N B Hf 115,590 132,681
—FREPNEEABITIRTNEERE AEBEER T ——FRNZEAHHRESEE-
31 EEREH -—AEE
REFRIBEEREEHBEEENDTOT
AEE
—E-2F —ETNF
ARMT T ARETIT
EETIREE
— & 1218 B R B H IR FR BB & 5,545 5,235
EEFHIEAE:
— B2 R ERELEHRIBEEE 2,097 -
—#BR12E A AW B MIEERIES & 13,691 4,943
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes




“E-ZEER / RERREERARLT /

e B SRR R
EEMSH A58 (@)
FRBREFMSHEENEDNT
AEH
—E-ZF —ETAF
ARETR ARETIT
n—A—H 5,235 6,461
REEA2EBFERATA (1K 310 (1,226)
Rt+-—A=+—H 5,545 5,235
AEH
FE W kg

EEREEE RIREE FERE RFBEAE et
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
R-ZZEENF—H—H 5,700 141 620 6,461
REEAE2mEBFERANER, (5T A) (1,820) 504 90 (1,226)
R_ZEZAF+_-_A=1+—H 3,880 645 710 5,235
PGB 2EBFERANE, (5FTA) 463 (549) 396 310
R-E-ZF+=H=+—H 4,343 96 1,106 5,545

FROREERBEENAEBS>TOT

REH

—E-ZF —ETAF
AR®BT ARET T
®n—A—H 4,943 2,859
RirE2mEmlER AR 6,206 4,943
4t (4,426) (2,859)
EBEHSIBWBELERIBEE (Hit34) 8,700 -
& 5 =& 365 -
R+-—A=+—H 15,788 4,943

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 16C110330174Notes




95 / REEREBRARLF / —E-ZFFRH

iR a SRR N R

EEFEBHR-—4A&£EH &)

rEE

B B 2 F)

A 2R A E
EZEBEES FEMB ESS=gii et
ARBEF T AR T T ARBEF T
RZEZENF—A— 2,859 - 2,859
%ﬁé%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ/&ﬁA) 4,943 - 4,943
e (2,859) - (2,859)
R-FTAF+-_A=1+—H 4,943 - 4,943
Rira 2EREERATR 7 (GFA) 7,693 (1,487) 6,206
e (4,426) - (4,426)
XBEMEIBMRTEHIEAR (Mit34) - 8,700 8,700
fEH =% - 365 365
R-ZZE—ZEF+=-A=+—H 8,210 7,578 15,788

REER ANEERBARERREEBEENARE14,551,000T (ZZEZNF - AR12,993,0007T ) 7] #4185 K 2R 4

o BEERRMN AR FRARIAEE WL RKERELERIAEE -
ZEMIBEBBEZIE R BB T
—E-F —EThF
AR T T AREFIT
RTAFEEm:
TR 6,814 3,060
—E—NF 6,142 140
—E—hF 1,595 9,793

Company Name: Good Fri (B)

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 16C110330174Notes
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e R HmAR R

2 EEMBRE

—E-ZF —ZETNF
AR¥T T ARBTIT
R P15 856 A 7 193,806 107,684
R
— i fE RS (i) 943 943
W BERZETE (#1517) 18,191 15,963
—REMEINE (Wit7) 133 329
—EREEME (M) 2,041 998
—HEWE - -BFEMEBEEE (R TX) 732 282
—MEWA (HiiE6) (1,321) (688)
—WBER (Kit9) 3,461 4,564
—E¥BEEENTE 41 -
—BWBEBHIBIEE BERIARBELATFER
AR E D (H5E34) (19,006) -
HEESEY (TRIERENFERGEREMELZ) -
—FE (Em R (104,429) 3,497
— YRR - e R IB A FRIAIE N (166,158) (93,047)
—EWE P& #) T2 FIFIE N (5,745) (2,539)
— W BRI AR B (3B h0) 449 (588)
—EREEER AT —ERRME AR Rk — S A8 508
(3#m),/w (3,436) 1
—FERTRRF - A BT AR S FE ST B R 3 A0 155,603 111,983
—EREFAHIRIRIECRL) G (2,902) 11,174
— R A RRIE CRd) /1 (4,235) 4,156
—JERT & &1 FRIEE I 7,335 -
—{REF R IE N 2,895 778
— P SR AR AR A B FIE R - (160)
BERBSERS 78,398 165,330
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:12)

Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 16C110330174Notes
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iR a SRR N R

32

33

EEMBRE #)

RIRERERA HEVE BELREMEFARKE:

—E-BF —ETNF
REH AREFT T ARET T
BRmEFE (Mt15) 2,688 1,858
HEME BEMREESE (732) (282)
HEYME  BEMEEEHE 1,956 1,576
AE
(a) BEAREIE
RIFERARETNESREENEATEOTHOT
—E-BF —ZTHEF
AEE AR¥T ARET T
MTASBEERL EMARGAMERRBENEAT L
—BARFE ARG E L 10,067 4,300
— UM 2R N AR A 27,097 3,425
37,164 7,725

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas
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REVENUE (RMB'000)

2007
S N -
2008

2009

2010

PROFIT (RMB’000)

2007
2008
s
2009
2010

BUSINESS SEGMENTS (In terms of revenue)

. Revenue

1,374,18

EBITDA

Profit attribuable
to equity holders

. Machine Tools

. Parking garage structures
. Forklift trucks
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TWO-YEAR COMPARISON OF FINANCIAL FIGURES

For the year ended 31 December

5

2010 2009 Change
RMB’000 RMB'000 (%)
Revenue 1,374,183 776,838 76.9%
Gross profit 355,535 214,801 65.5%
EBITDA 218,575 130,152 67.9%
Profit attributable to equity holders 158,746 84,145 88.7%
Shareholders’ equity 618,363 362,855 70.4%
Total assets 1,309,110 826,625 58.4%
Earnings per share — basic (RMB) 0.41 0.25 64.0%
SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
For the year ended 31 December
Change
2010 2009 (%)
Gross profit margin Mot ! 25.9% 27.7% -6.5%
Net profit margin Nete? 11.6% 10.8% 7.4%
Inventory turnover days "ot ? 122.5 136.1 -10.0%
Debtors’ turnover days "Nete4 93.4 96.0 -2.7%
Creditors’ turnover days "e® 59.9 102.1 -41.3%
Current ratio (Times) Nete¢ 1.5 1.3 15.4%
Quick ratio (Times) Nete” 1.0 0.8 25.0%
Gearing ratio (%) Neeé 13.4% 15.4% -13.0%
EBITDA/Finance costs (Times) Nete? 63.15 28.5 121.8%
Return on equity (%) Mot 10 25.7% 23.2% 10.8%

Note 1:  Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue.

Note 2: Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders divided by revenue.

Note 3:  Inventory turnover days is calculated as the ending inventory divided by cost of revenue and multiplied by 365 days.

Note 4: Debtors’ turnover days is calculated as the ending trade debtors divided by revenue and multiplied by 365 days.

Note 5: Creditors’ turnover days is calculated as the ending trade creditors divided by cost of sales and multiplied by 365
days.

Note 6: Cu};rent ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current liabilities at the end of the corresponding
year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as a percentage.

Note 7: Quick ratio is calculated as total current assets excluding inventories divided by total current liabilities at the
end of the corresponding year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as a
percentage.

Note 8:  Gearing ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total assets at the end of the year. Total debts refer to total
interest bearing liabilities at the end of the year.

Note 9: EBITDA/Finance costs is calculated as earnings before finance costs, taxation, depreciation and amortization
divided by finance costs for the year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as
a percentage.

Note 10: Return on equity is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders divided by total shareholders’ equity at the
end of the corresponding year.
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Chairman’s Statement

Chu Chih-Yaung

Chairman

My heartfelt thanks to all of you for your support to
our Group. | am pleased to present on behalf of the
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) to
the shareholders the report on the results of Good
Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “"Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010 (the
“year”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's
operating results scored a new high. During the
year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
Rmb 1,374.18 million, representing an increase of
approximately 76.9% compared to previous year;
profit attributable to equity holders for the year
amounted to approximately Rmb 158.75 million,
representing an increase of approximately 88.7%
compared to 2009.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board proposed, subject to approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company, a final dividend out of the
share premium account of the Company of RMB0.10
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.119 according to
the average middle rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong
dollars as announced by the People’s Bank of China
on 24 March 2011) per share for the year ended 31
December 2010, amounting to RMB40.32 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$47.98 million)
payable to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 20 May 2011. The payment date of the final
dividend will be announced later.

Company Name: Good Fri (B)

Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 04E110330174Chairman



BUSINESS REVIEW

The gross domestic product of the mainland China
was RMB39,798.3 billion in 2010, representing a
growth of 10.3% over 2009 on a comparable price
basis. The economy of China maintained its good
momentum of development and had driven the
country’s fixed assets investment to leap by 23.8%
year-on-year in 2010. Also purchases of machine
tools in China amounted to US$27.3 billion in
2010, representing an encouraging growth when
compared to that of US$19.8 billion in 2009.

The Group stands to benefit accordingly by virtue of
the fact that its mainstream product CNC machine
tools focuses mainly in China market. For the year
ended 31 December 2010, sales volume and sales
revenue of the Group’s CNC machine tools business
amounted to 2,546 units and approximately
RMB1,135.47 million respectively (2009: 1,352
units and approximately RMB 615.45 million),
representing significant growth when compared
with 2009 driven by the robust demand. This is also
a testimonial to the good acceptance of the Group's
products by the customers, as well as the Group's
advantage in the comprehensive sales services

provided by its existing sales network in China.
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Moreover, the Company completed the offering and
listing of Taiwan Depositary Receipts (“TDR") on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation in March 2010.
Apart from increasing the public awareness of the
Group as well as promoting the Group's corporate
image, the issue of TDR also provides an additional
fundraising platform for the Group. The net
proceeds raised from the issue of TDR amounted
to approximately RMB205.8 million. Such funds will
mainly be utilized for purchases of machineries and
equipments and construction of plants by Hangzhou
Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. (in respect
of its second phase production base in Xiasha,
Hangzhou) and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery
Technology Co., Ltd. (in respect of its production
base in Jiangdong, Hangzhou). With such strong
financial backup, the Group could therefore further
expand its production capacity in respect of its CNC

machine tools business.

Furthermore, the Group had acquired specific assets
of the “Rambaudi” business division of Sachman
Rambaudi, including tangible assets, inventories
and intangible assets in June 2010. The "Rambaudi”
business division of Sachman Rambaudi has over
70 years history, and was principally engaged in the
design and production of milling and machining
centers for aerospace and mould and die. This
acquisition provides an opportunity for the Group
to enhance its product portfolio in particular for
the application sectors of aerospace and mould
and die, which is beneficial to the Group's overall

business development.
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In conclusion, given the encouraging growth of
the operating results of its CNC machine tools (the
Group's mainstream product), the Group finally
recorded a profit attributable to equity holders of
RMB158.75 million for the year. Coupled with the
issue of TDR as well as the acquisition of assets of
“Rambaudi”, the Group's shareholders’ equity was
therefore increased from approximately RMB362.86
million as at 31 December 2009 to approximately
RMB618.36 million as at 31 December 2010.

PROSPECTS

Following the formulation of the 12th Five Year
Plan (2011-2015) by the central government of
China, it is expected that the demand of machine
tools from the industries of high-speed railway,
aerospace, motor vehicle and energy will be
increased considerably, especially demand of those
hi-tech CNC machine tools. For the two months
ended 28 February 2011, the Group received sales
orders from customers of 1,098 units in respect
of its CNC machine tools business, amounting to
approximately RMB421.24 million (excluding tax),
representing an increase of 59.0% when compared
to the same period in 2010. Accordingly, the
Group's CNC machine tools business continued to

maintain its increasing trend.
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China is the largest machine tools consuming
country. The Group will continue to expand its
production capacity and enhance its production
efficiency, in order to meet the robust demand
from the domestic market. Moreover, the relevant
construction work for the Group's phase one
production base located at Jiangdong, Hangzhou
shall be completed in the middle of 2011 and will
commence to manufacture CNC machine tools.
This could further enhance the Group's production
capacity in respect of its CNC machine tools
business, and provide high quality CNC machine

tools to the customers.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
participate actively in machine tools fairs in China,
and enhance the promotion of the Group's CNC
machine tools products so as to solidify the Group's
market share in China. On the other hand, the
management will continue to look for appropriate
investing and acquisition activities so as to increase
the competitive edge of our Group. The Group
is committed to becoming an international CNC

machine tools manufacturer.

The management believes that with its extensive
sales network, solid research and development
foundation as well as advanced manufacturing
facilities, the Group is capable of meeting
customers’ different needs. The management will
strive to bring favorable returns to the shareholders

of the Company.

9

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 04E110330174Chairman




10

/ Good Friend International Holdings Inc. / Annual Report 2010

Chairman’s Statement

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | on behalf of the Board,
would like to thank the Company's shareholders,
the Group's customers and suppliers for their
continued support. | would also like to thank all
the management and staff for their efforts and

contributions to the Group over the last year.

Chu Chih-Yaung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 March 2011
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group recorded remarkable growth in its financial

performance.

The Group's revenue and profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the year
amounted to approximately RMB1,374.18 million
(2009: RMB776.84 million) and approximately
RMB158.75 million (2009: RMB84.15 million)
respectively, representing an increase of
approximately 76.9% and 88.7% respectively as
compared with that in 2009. During the year, sales
volume of CNC machine tools, parking garage
structures and forklift trucks amounted to 2,546
units, 5,861 units and 2,064 units respectively (2009:
1,352 units, 5,668 units and 1,189 units).

REVENUE

During the year, CNC machine tools remained the
major source of the Group's revenue. The number
of CNC machine tools sold increased from 1,352
units in 2009 to 2,546 units this year. Sales of the
product rose from approximately RMB615.45
million to RMB1,135.47 million this year, an
increase of approximately 84.5% and represented
approximately 82.6% of the Group's total revenue.
CNC machine tools focuses mainly in China, with
the major customers of the product being those

automobile and mechanical manufacturers. The

machine tools industry in China maintained its
increasing trend in 2010. Sales revenue of the
Group's CNC machine tools business in 2010
therefore recorded encouraging growth under
such strong demand. Amongst this, sales revenue
of double column machining centre amounted
to approximately RMB94.19 million for this year,
whilst selling price of such product is approximately
2 times or more the average selling price of
the Group's CNC machine tools products. The
operating gross profit for CNC machine tools during
the year was approximately 28.3%.

On the other hand, driven by robust demand in
China, sales revenue of the Group's forklift trucks
business increased by approximately 94.1% from
RMB77.61 million to RMB150.65 million, and
approximately 11.0% of the Group's total revenue.
Accordingly the proportion of the domestic sales
of the forklift trucks was increased to 62.0%.
Moreover, sales revenue of parking garage
structures amounted to approximately RMB88.06
million during the year, representing an increase
of approximately 5.1% as compared to last year
and accounted for approximately 6.4% of the total

revenue.
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GROSS PROFIT AND MARGIN

For the year ended 31 December 2010, gross
profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB355.54 million(2009: RMB214.80 million). Overall
gross profit margin of the Group was approximately
25.9% (2009: 27.7%). The gross profit margin of
CNC machine tools during the year decreased as

compared to last year. As a result, the overall gross

profit margin for the year decreased.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING
EXPENSES

Distribution and selling expenses increased by
approximately 51.8% from approximately RMB72.74
million in 2009 to approximately RMB110.40
million for the year. Such increase was mainly
due to the increase in sales volume of its major
product CNC machine tools during the year. The
relevant expenditures including costs of sales staff,
transportation costs therefore increased accordingly.
During the year, distribution and selling expenses
as a percentage of the Group's revenue was
approximately 8.0% (2009: 9.4%)

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses increased by
approximately 106.4% from approximately
RMB40.95 million to approximately RMB84.54
million. During the year, the Group changed
its mode of presentation by aggregate the
total research and development expenses as a
component of administrative expenses. During
the year ended 31 December 2010, the relevant
research & development expenses and other
related items amounted to approximately RMB39.43
million(2009: RMB22.96 million). Such increase was
in line with the increase of the sales revenue of CNC
machine tools (the Group's major product) during
the year. On the other hand, there was a provision of
approximately RMB5.54 million allowances for trade
and doubtful debts during the year, compared with
approximately RMB12.31 million write-back in 2009.

Despite that, administrative expenses increased by
approximately 30.6%. This was mainly attributable
to the increase of those general expenses including
depreciation charges and the staff costs as well
as the additional expenditures in relation to the

Rambaudi business.

FINANCE COSTS

During the year ended 31 December 2010, finance
costs decreased to approximately RMB3.46 million
(2009: RMB4.56 million). The decrease was primarily
due to the decrease of average bank borrowings of
the Group during the year.
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EXCESS OF THE NET FAIR VALUE OF
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS, LIABILITIES
AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES OF
BUSINESS ACQUIRED OVER COST

Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 3 (revised) “Business combinations”, the
Group has to perform valuation on those Rambaudi
assets (including inventories etc.) acquired in June
2010, and to be recorded at fair values. Since
discounting (in particular inventories) were offered
upon the acquisition of those Rambaudi assets,
accordingly the fair values after valuation was
greater than the book values as at acquisition. The
resulting difference amounted to approximately
EUR2.18 million or RMB19.01 million was properly
accounted for in the Group's income statement of
the year in accordance with the relevant accounting
standard.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The Group's profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB158.75 million, representing an increase of
approximately 88.7% as compared to the previous

year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net
current assets of approximately RMB318.50 million
(2009: RMB132.93 million), shareholders’ fund of
approximately RMB618.36 million (2009: RMB362.86
million) and short-term bank borrowings of
approximately RMB169.18 million (2009: RMB117.30
million). The Group's working capital was financed
by internal cash flows generated from its operation

and existing banking facilities.

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2010
amounted to approximately RMB161.05 million
(2009: RMB68.14 million). The current ratio (ratio of
total current assets to total current liabilities) of the
Group was approximately 1.5 times (2009: 1.3 times).
The gearing ratio (ratio of total debts to total assets)
was approximately 13.4% (2009: 15.4%), indicating
that the Group continued to maintain solid financial

position.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND
TREASURY POLICIES

The share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2010 was HK$4,032,000 divided
into 403,200,000 shares of HK$0.01 each (at 31
December 2009: HK$3,360,000 divided into
336,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each).
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The Group generally finances its operations with
internally generated cash flows and loans facilities
provided by banks. As of 31 December 2010, the
total outstanding short-term borrowings stood at
approximately RMB169.18 million (2009: RMB117.30
million). Borrowing methods used by the Group
mainly include bank loans. The Group had no
interest rate hedging arrangement during the year.
During the year, the Company further improved
its capital structure by issuing 67,200,000 ordinary
shares in the form of TDRs. These TDRs have been
listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange since 18 March
2010. Net proceeds of RMB155 million was received
by the Company. The Directors believe that the
Group has sufficient financial resources to discharge
its debts and to finance its operations and capital

expenditures.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group had no significant investment held for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Save for the acquisition of Rambaudi business, the

Group did not have any material acquisition or

disposal of subsidiaries or associates during the year
ended 31 December 2010.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information for the year ended

31 December 2010 are set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

At 31 December 2010, the Group employed a total
of 1,600 (2009: 1,230) full-time employees in Hong
Kong and China. The total staff costs (including
Directors’ fee and emoluments) amounted to
approximately RMB99.96 million (2009: RMB62.89
million). The salary review policies of the Group are
determined with reference to the market trends,
future plans and the performance of individuals in

various aspects and are reviewed periodically.

The Company also holds a share option scheme,
for the purpose of providing incentive and rewards
to eligible participants for their contributions to the
Group. No share option was granted by the Group

since its adoption of the share option scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries
join a state-managed social welfare scheme
operated by the local government of China and
the employees in Hong Kong participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. During the year
under review, the Group contributed approximately
RMB4.10 million (2009: RMB2.21 million) to the said

schemes.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES

The Group has made capital expenditure
commitments mainly for property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB27.10 million
(2009: RMB3.43 million) which are contracted but
not provided in the financial statements. The Group
also had commitments of USD1.52 million (2009:
USD0.63 million) in respect of capital contribution to
a_jointly controlled entity in China. The Group had

no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2010 (2009: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2010, restricted bank deposits
with an amount of approximately RMB29.16 million
(2009: RMB23.92 million) represented guarantee
deposit in banks for the purpose of bidding

contracts.

Meanwhile, subsidiaries of the Company pledged
its land and buildings with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB39.76 million (2009:
RMB67.25 million) to secure general banking

facilities granted to them.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments

and acquisition of material capital assets as at 31

December 2010. However, the Group will continue

to seek new business development opportunities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in China. During the
year ended 31 December 2010, the Group collected
most of its revenue in Renminbi, some of which were
converted into foreign currencies such as United
States dollars, Japanese Yen and other foreign
currencies for the payment of imported parts and
components. As such, the Group had a certain level
of exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. The
Group has no hedging activities as it is considered

that the impact to the Group is insignificant.

Renminbi currently is not a freely convertible
currency. A portion of the Group's Renminbi
revenue or profit must be converted into other
currencies to meet foreign currency obligations
of the Group such as the payment of dividends, if
declared.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (‘REF %4 ), aged 64, was
appointed as an executive Director in September
2005 and Chairman of the Board. He is responsible
for the Group’'s overall strategic planning,
management, business development, and the
formulation of the Group's corporate policies.
Mr. Chu has more than 30 years of experience in
the mechanics, manufacturing and machine tools
industry. Mr. Chu is also a director of Hangzhou
Global Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd.,

both are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung (FRMAI& %4 ), aged
65, was appointed as an executive Director in
December 2005 and chief executive officer. He is
also a member of remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. He is
responsible for general management of the Group.
Mr. Chen has more than 30 years of experience in
the mechanics, manufacturing and machine tools
industry. He is also a director of Hangzhou Good
Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou
Global Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd.,
Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd.
and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery Technology
Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 1993.

Mr. Chen Min-Ho (BRAEF)A 5.4 ), aged 60, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He is responsible for the overall business
operation of the Group. Mr. Chen has more than 15
years of experience in mechanics, manufacturing
and machine tools industry. He is also a director of
Hangzhou Good Friend Precision Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Rich Friend (Shanghai) Precision Machinery
Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery
Technology Co., Ltd. He joined the Group in 1993.

Mr. Wen Chi-Tang R & 2 5E 4 ), aged 46, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He was the vice general manager of machine
tools division of Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd. and then was promoted as the
general manager with effect from 1 January 2011.
He is responsible for the production and operation
of this division. Mr. Wen has more than 25 years
of experience in the machine tools industry. He is
also a director of Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Global Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Ever Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Glory
Friend Machinery Technology Co., Ltd. He joined
the Group in 2003.

Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien (EB2EE 554 ), aged 53, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He was the manager of the parking garage
structures division of Hangzhou Good Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and then was
promoted as the senior manager with effect from 1
January 2011. He is responsible for the production
and operation of this division. Mr. Chiu has more
than 26 years of experience in the mechanics and
manufacturing industry. He joined the Group in
2001.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (Eif& & 5.4 ) , aged 54,
was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is the chairman
of audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. He is
the founder and managing director of Hercules
Capital Limited, a corporate finance advisory
firm. He has more than 20 years of experience in
investment banking and professional accounting.
Mr. Koo currently act as an independent non-
executive director of Weichai Power Co., Ltd., Li
Ning Company Limited, Midland Holdings Limited,
Xingda International Holdings Limited and Richfield
Group Holdings Limited, which are companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is a
certified public accountant.

From June 2005 to June 2008, Mr. Koo served as
an independent non-executive director of Midland
IC&I Limited, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. In 2009, Mr. Koo retired (i)
as vice chairman, treasurer, principal accounting
officer and chief financial officer of 2020 ChinaCap
Acquirco, Inc., which is a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange Amex; and (i) as independent
non-executive director of China Communications
Construction Company Limited, which is a company

listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chiang Chun-Te L& &5 4 ) aged 50, was
appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is a member of
audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Chiang is the 16th Representative of the Delegates
Committee of the Importers and Exporters
Association of Taipei (BItMEHOEERER
28 8MREKXKNE). He is the director of Premier
Venture Capital Corp. (HFEIZEERNDBRA
7)), Premier Capital Management ( & J& 81 75 & 12
BN BIRAR]) and #2301 B AR A A and
chairman and general manager of Istra Corp. ({2
HEERMHAEMR AT ) . He is the independent director
of Long Chen Paper Co., Ltd. (&R AZER D BR A
al).

Mr. Yu Yu-Tang (RE=Z%E4), aged 74, was
appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is a member of the
audit committee of the Company. He is a consultant
of the Taiwan Hsin Chu County Government ( & /&

BT ) and the Provincial Government.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Gui Sheng (EH#4A % 4E), aged 57,
was appointed as the vice general manager of
Hangzhou Global Friend and is responsible for
the operation and management of the factory. He
joined the Group in February 2003 and has over
38 years of experience in forklift and mechanical

industry.

Mr. Chiang Chia-Shin (38 X &% 4 ), aged 52,
was appointed as the marketing manager of
Hangzhou Global Friend and is responsible for the
business of forklifts trucks in Mainland China. Mr.
Chiang graduated from mechanical engineering
department of Taiwan Fushin Institute Technology
School (BEEE T EFRIEZR) in 1979. He joined
the Group in April 2006 and has over 25 years
of experience in the design, manufacturing and
production of the motor vehicle parts and forklifts

trucks.

Mr. Wu Li-Chen (R 3L £ ), aged 49, was
appointed as the manager of after sales services
division of machine tools of Hangzhou Good Friend.
He joined the Group in October 2000 and has over

26 years of experience in the machine tools industry.

Mr. Yeh Ming-Pin (EBRW £ %), aged 43,
was appointed as the vice general manager of
Hangzhou Good Friend and is responsible for the
general administrative and management functions.
Mr. Yeh graduated from Tamkang University,
Taiwan (B /2% )L K2)in 1994 with a degree
in Accounting. Before he joined the Group in
January 2007, Mr. Yeh worked in TNS CPA firm in
Taiwan from 1994 to 1998 and has over 13 years of
experience in the fields of auditing, accounting and

finance.

Mr. Yip Sai Keung, Esmond (ZEt38%4) , aged
45, was appointed as the financial controller of the
Company and is responsible for the finance and
accounting functions of the Group. Mr. Yip holds
a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yip joined the
Group in November 2007 and has over 20 years
of experience in the fields of corporate finance,

auditing and accounting.
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The Board is pleased to submit their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company
and the subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the design and production of CNC machine tools,
design and construction of three-dimensional
car parking garage structures and design and

assembling of forklift trucks.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's turnover and results by
business segments for the year ended 31 December
2010 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December
2010 and the state of affairs of the Group as at
that date are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 39 to 103.

The Directors declared an interim dividend of RMB
0.15 (equivalent to approximately HK$ 0.172) per
share to those shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members on 17 September 2010,
amounted to approximately RMB60.48 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$69.35 million)
which was paid on 21 September 2010.

The Directors proposed a final dividend of RMB0.10
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.119 according to
the average middle rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong
dollars as announced by the People’s Bank of China

on 24 March 2011) per share for the year ended

31 December 2010, amounting to approximately
RMB40.32 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$47.98 million), payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 20 May 2011. The payment
date of final dividend will be announced later.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 17 May 2011 to Friday,
20 May 2011, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfers of shares shall be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend
and attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms, must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16 May 2011.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in consolidated statement of

changes in equity on page 45.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2011 annual general meeting will be held on
Friday, 20 May 2011. Shareholders should refer to
details regarding the 2011 annual general meeting
in the circular of the Company of 13 April 2011
and the notice of meeting and form of proxy

accompanying thereto.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant
and equipment during the year are set out in note

15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share
capital for the year ended 31 December 2010 are
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2010 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Min-Ho

Mr. Wen Chi-Tang

Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis
Mr. Chiang Chun-Te
Mr. Yu Yu-Tang

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles”) Mr. Chu
Chih-Yaung, Mr. Wen Chi-Tang and Mr. Koo Fook
Sun, Louis will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive

Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were the rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or Chief Executive of the Company or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights or benefits by means of the acquisition
of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any

other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement dated 11 January 2009 with the
Company for a term of three years commencing
from 11 January 2009 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to the other
or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective service agreement. Each of the executive
Directors may receive a discretionary bonus, the
amount of which will be determined by reference
to the comments of the remuneration committee of

the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors
entered into a service agreement dated 22
December 2005 with the Company for an initial
fixed term of two years commencing from 11
January 2006. A new service agreement has been
entered into between each of the independent

non-executive Directors and the Company for a
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fixed term of 2 years commencing from 10 January
2010, and may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party to
the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as those set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, none of the Directors had
a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

Reference is made to the relevant disclosures on
pages 94 to 106 and details on the deed of non-
competition on page 105 of the prospectus of
the Company dated 30 December 2005. As at
31 December 2010, none of the Directors and
their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business, which
competes or may compete with the business of the
Group in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) on 22 December 2005. The purpose
of the Scheme is to motivate eligible persons to
optimise their future contributions to the Group, to
reward them for their past contributions, to attract
and maintain on-going relationships with such
eligible persons who contribute to the performance,
growth or success of the Group. Eligible persons
of the Scheme include the Company's directors,
including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group, suppliers of
goods or services to the Group, customers of the
Group, persons or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group, any minority shareholder in the Company's
subsidiaries, and adviser to business development
of the Group and an associate of any of the

foregoing persons.

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised

as follows:

(@) The maximum number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group must
not exceed 10% of issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of listing of the
Company's shares on the Stock Exchange,
i.e. 11 January 2006 (which were 280,000,000
shares) unless shareholders’ approval has been
obtained, and which must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in

issue from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Scheme
is 28,000,000 shares, which represents 10% of
the issued shares as at the date of listing of the

Company's shares on the Stock Exchange.

The maximum number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to any eligible person (including exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued shares from

time to time.

The subscription price for the shares under
the Scheme shall be such price as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant of the option but the subscription
price shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company's shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets on the date of the Board approving the
grant of an option, which must be a business
day ("Offer Date”); (ii) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the
Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the

Company's shares.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during the period commencing
immediately after the business day on which
the option is deemed to be granted and
accepted in accordance with the Scheme
("Commencement Date") and expiring on such

date of the expiry of the option as the Board
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of Directors may in its absolute discretion
determine and which shall not exceed ten years
from the Commencement Date but subject to
the provisions for early termination thereof as

set out in the Scheme.

(e) Upon acceptance of the option, the
grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as

consideration for the grant.

() The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption of the Scheme, i.e. 22 December
2005.

No option has been granted since the adoption of

the Scheme.
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DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short
positions of the Directors or chief executive in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies (“Model Code"), are set out

below:

1. Aggregate long position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its

associated corporations

Name of Number and Approximate
associated Nature of class of percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest securities shareholding
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung REEE£BRHERRT Beneficial owner 24,490,347 shares 15.56%
(Fair Friend Enterprise
Company Limited)
("Taiwan FF")
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 1) Taiwan FF Spouse interest 4,528,925 shares 2.88%
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Not 2)  Taiwan FF Family interest 685,759 shares 0.44%
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Name of Director

Name of
associated
corporation

Nature of
interest

Number and
class of

securities

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 3)

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note )

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 6)

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung

Taiwan FF

ROIERNERAR
(Fairskq (Taiwan) Co., Ltd.)
(Note 4)

RBTERHBRAF
(Fairskq (Taiwan) Co., Ltd.)
(Note 4)

hEREEERBERATF
(Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd.)
(Note 4)

hEREERHERDF
(Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd.)
(Note 4)

REEBRBHERAH
(Decaview Asia Corporation)
(Note 4)

EEBEERNERAF
(Decaview Asia Corporation)
(Note 4)

Fair Fine (Hongzhou)
Industrial Co., Ltd. (Note 4)

Fair Fine (Hongzhou)
Industrial Co., Ltd. (Note 4)

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Spouse interest

Beneficial owner

Spouse interest

Spouse interest

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

4,572,841 shares

21,988 shares

21,988 shares

1,000 shares

1,000 shares

14,700 shares

2,940 shares

750 shares

750 shares

2.90%

0.22%

0.22%

0.01%

0.01%

0.59%

0.12%

0.03%

0.03%

Company Name: Good Fri (B)
Job Type: AR

Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K))  Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 07E110330174Directors




Notes:

1. Ms. Wang Tz-Ti (formerly known as Wang Jin-Zu)
("Ms. Wang"), the spouse of Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung
("Mr. Chu"), holds 2.88% of the issued share capital
of Taiwan FF. Mr. Chu is deemed to be interested in
all the shares held by Ms. Wang in Taiwan FF under
the SFO.

2. Mr. Chu Yi-Chia, the son of Mr. Chu under the age of
18, holds 0.44% of the issued share capital of Taiwan
FF. Mr. Chu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares held by Mr. Chu Yi-Chia in Taiwan FF under
the SFO.

3. Ms. Wang holds 0.22% of the issued share capital
of Fairskqg (Taiwan) Co., Ltd.. Mr. Chu is deemed to
be interested in all the shares held by Ms. Wang in
Fairskqg (Taiwan) Co., Ltd. under the SFO.

4. These companies are non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Taiwan FF and are therefore associated
corporations of the Company for the purpose of the
SFO.

5. Ms. Wang holds 0.01% of the issued share capital of
Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd.. Mr. Chu is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Ms. Wang in Yu
Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd. under the SFO.

6. Ms. Wang holds 0.59% of the issued share capital of
Decaview Asia Corporation. Mr. Chu is deemed to
be interested in all the shares held by Ms. Wang in

Decaview Asia Corporation under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

2. Aggregate short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the

Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company, had
any short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations which were recorded
in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short
positions of every person, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFQO, are set out below:
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1. Aggregate long position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of shareholder

Nature of interest

Number
of ordinary
shares held

Approximate
percentage of

the Company'’s
issued share capital

Good Friend (H.K)) Beneficial owner 252,000,000 shares 62.50%
Corporation Limited (Note 1)
("Hong Kong GF")
Taiwan FF Interest of controlled 252,000,000 shares 62.50%
corporation (Note 1)
Morgan Stanley Interest of controlled 47,831,538 shares 11.86%

corporation

(Note 2)

Note 1: Hong Kong GF is owned as to approximately 99.99% by Taiwan FF. Accordingly, Taiwan FF was deemed to be
interested in 252,000,000 shares of the Company held by Hong Kong GF under the SFO.

Note 2: Morgan Stanley was deemed to be interested in 47,831,538 shares of the Company held by a number of its

wholly-owed and non wholly-owed subsidiaries under the SFO.

2. Aggregate short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of shareholder

Nature of interest

Number
of ordinary
shares held

Approximate
percentage of

the Company's
issued share capital

Hong Kong GF Beneficial owner 24,000,000 shares 5.95%
(Note)

Taiwan FF Interest of controlled 24,000,000 shares 5.95%
corporation (Note)

Note: Hong Kong GF is owned as to approximately 99.99% by Taiwan FF. Accordingly, Taiwan FF was deemed to be
interested in 24,000,000 shares of the Company held by Hong Kong GF under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, no other parties were
recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as
having interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as at 31
December 2010.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing
the Group's emolument policy and structure
for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the
Group's operating results, individual performance

and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
as incentive to Directors and eligible employees,
details of the Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” above.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and
the top five highest paid individuals of the Group
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the year
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of any related party transaction
which also constitute connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction not exempted
under Rule 14A.31 or Rule 14A.33 of the Listing
Rules are disclosed below. The Group has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of such

transactions.

1. Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions

As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company of 21 May 2008 and circular of the
Company of 3 June 2008, the Company had
on 21 May 2008 entered into a conditional
framework agreement (the “Framework
Agreement”) with Fair Friend Enterprise
Company Limited (“Taiwan FF"), the indirect
controlling shareholder and connected person

of the Company (such terms as defined in the
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Listing Rules), pursuant to which the Group
shall supply CKD components and CNC
machine tools to Taiwan FF (and/or permitted
designates) and Taiwan FF (and/or permitted
designates) shall supply CKD components
to the Group, for a term of three years

commencing from 23 June 2008.

The supply transactions under the Framework
Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions subject to reporting, announcement,
independent shareholders’ approval and annual
review requirements under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

The resolution approving the Framework
Agreement, the transactions contemplated
thereunder and the relevant annual maximum
transaction amounts (the “Annual Cap(s)”) was
duly passed by the independent shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 23 June 2008.

The independent non-executive directors of
the Company have reviewed the Framework
Agreement and the transactions thereunder
conducted during the year and confirmed that

they were:—

() entered into in the ordinary and usual

course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the
Framework Agreement and on terms
which were fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole; and

(iv) the aggregate transactions amount for the

year was within the relevant Annual Cap.

The auditors of the Company have undertaken
to report their factual findings to the board of
directors of the Company in respect of Rule
14A.38 of the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles or the laws of the Cayman lIslands,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the
Company's listed shares by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2010.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for
approximately 10.5% of the Group's total turnover
for the year and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 3.1% of the Group's total
turnover. The five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 35.8% of the Group's total purchases
for the year and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 14.2% of the Group's total purchases.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As far as the information publicly available to the
Company is concerned and to the best knowledge
of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of
the Company's issued share capital were held by

members of the public as at the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW
OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company established an audit committee (the
"Audit Committee”) on 22 December 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis
(as Chairman), Mr. Chiang Chun-Te and Mr. Yu Yu-
Tang. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 31 to 36 of the 2010 Annual Report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

on page 104.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010 have been audited by the auditors
of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers (who
shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the 2011 annual general

meeting).

On behalf of the Board
Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
Chu Chih-Yaung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2011
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Corporate

The Company is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance standard through a solid
and efficient framework to promote the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to

enhance shareholders’ value.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code of
corporate governance practices which meets
the code provisions in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "CG Code") as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The current
practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.
During the year under review, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code except for the deviations from code
provision E 1.2 of the CG Code which stipulates
that the chairman of the board should attend the
annual general meeting. The chairman of the Board
was unable to attend the annual general meeting
held on 31 March 2010 due to his business trip and
Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung as Executive Director of the
Company took the chair pursuant to the Articles of

Association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules for securities
transaction by the Directors. Upon enquiry by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that, for the
year ended 31 December 2010, they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model
Code regarding securities transactions by the

Directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group's
budget, significant policies and transactions,
financial results, businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management was delegated
the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various board committees
referred to below. Further details of these

committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of eight Directors
including five executive Directors and three

independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung (Chairman)

Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHEN Min-Ho

Mr. WEN Chi-Tang

Mr. CHIU Rung-Hsien
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Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis

Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te

Mr. YU Yu-Tang

Such balanced board composition is formed
to ensure a strong independent objectivity
exists across the Board and has adhered to the
recommended practice under the CG Code for the
Board to have at least one-third of its members
comprising independent non-executive Directors.
The biographical information of the Directors are
set out on pages 16 to 18 under the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management”.

The Board decides on corporate strategies,
approves overall business plans and evaluates the
Group's financial performance and management.
Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group's management include the implementation
of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring
of operating budgets, the implementation of
internal controls procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and

other rules and regulations.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions and roles of Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held and performed separately by two individuals
to ensure their respective independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Chairman,
being Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung, is in-charge of the
leadership of the Board and strategies planning of

the Group. The Chief Executive Officer, being Mr.
Chen Hsiang-Jung, is responsible for the day-to-day

management of the Group's business.

Independent non-executive Directors

The three Directors serving the non-executive
role are all independent and are appointed as
the independent non-executive Directors of the

Company.

The three independent non-executive Directors
are persons of high caliber, with academic
and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting and finance. With their experience
gained from various sectors, they provide strong
support towards the effective discharge of the
duties and responsibilities of the Board. Amongst
them, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis has the appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each
independent non-executive Director has provided
an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company, and the Company considers each
of them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

The three independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term of two years and are
subject to retirement by rotation, at least once every

three years, in accordance with the Articles.
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Frequency of Board Meetings and Attendance

Board meetings are held at least four times a year
and the Board meets as and when required. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the
Board convened a total of four regular meetings
and the attendances of the Directors at these Board

meetings are as follows:

Directors Number of attendance
Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung 4/4
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung 4/4
Mr. CHEN Min-Ho 3/4
Mr. WEN Chi-Tang 2/4
Mr. CHIU Rung-Hsien 4/4
Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 4/4
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 4/4
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 4/4

The Directors received details of agenda items for
decision and minutes of Board meetings in advance

of each Board meeting.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every
Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials and has unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external

professional advice if so required.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in

respect of relevant actions against its Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the
"Audit Committee”) on 22 December 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Audit Committee of the Company
comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (as
chairman), Mr. Chiang Chun-Te and Mr. Yu Yu-Tang.

The role of the Audit Committee is to monitor the
establishment and maintenance of an adequate
system of internal control and compliance with such

system.

The chief responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditors and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditors,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of
such auditors; reviewing the interim and annual
reports and accounts of the Group; and supervising
the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of internal control system of the Group. The Audit
Committee had during the year performed such
functions and reviewed the unaudited financial
statements of the Company for the six months
period ended 30 June 2010. The audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2010 has also been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee has recommended to the
Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified
Public Accountants, be nominated for re-
appointment as auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

During the year 2010, the Audit Committee met
three times, during which the management of the
Company and the external auditors were also in
attendance, if appropriate. Details of the attendance
by audit committee members of such meetings are
as follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 3/3
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 3/3
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 3/3

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the
Board will take into account the qualification, ability,
working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience
in the mechanics industry and/or other professional

area.

The Company established a Nomination
Committee, with written terms of reference, on 22
December 2005 in compliance with the CG Code
and consists of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (as
chairman) and Mr. Chiang Chun-Te, and one

executive Director, namely Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung.

The functions of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of
the Board, assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors.

During the year and prior to the date of this report,
there were no changes of the Directors. The
Committee considered the current Board size as
adequate for the Company'’s present operations. In
addition, the Committee has reviewed and satisfied
the independency of all independent non-executive

Directors.

In accordance with the Articles, at least one-
third of the Directors will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance
with the Article 87(1) of the Articles of Association
of the Company, Mr.Chu Chih-Yaung, Mr. Wen
Chi-Tang and Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.
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Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Nomination Committee has convened one
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2010
and details of the attendance of its meeting are as

follows:

Directors Number of attendance
Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 11
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 1/1
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung 11

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a Remuneration
Committee, with written terms of reference, on 22
December 2005 in compliance with the CG Code
and consists of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (as
chairman) and Mr. Chiang Chun-Te, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are
establishing and reviewing the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior

management.
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Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Remuneration Committee has convened one
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2010
to review the existing remuneration packages of
each of the Directors and senior management of
the Company and details of the attendance of its

meeting are as follows:

Directors Number of attendance
Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis i7al
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 11
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung 11

Emolument policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the
Group is determined on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
Each of the executive Directors is entitled to the
respective basic salary which is reviewed annually.
In addition, each of the executive Directors may
receive a discretionary bonus as the Board may
suggest, the amount of which shall not exceed 2%
of the audited consolidated net profits of the Group
for the relevant financial year. Such amount has
to be approved by the Remuneration Committee.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in

note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme
on 22 December 2005. The purpose of the share
option scheme is to enable the Board, at its
discretion, to grant options to selected eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the
Group. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
of the “Report of the Directors”.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company’s auditors,

PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out below:

Services rendered
to the Group Fee paid/payable

HK$'000

1,350

Non-audit services -

Audit services

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Board is responsible for the Group's system
of internal control and has the responsibility for
reviewing its effectiveness including financial,
operational and compliance controls, etc.. The
Board is committed to implementing an effective
and sound internal control system to safeguard the
interest of shareholders and the Group's assets.
Such review also covers adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the

Company’s accounting and financial reporting

function and their training programmes and budget.
During the year, the management had conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Group. The report and findings of the
review had been submitted to the Board and follow
up plan had been adopted. The review did not
find any material deficiencies in the internal control

system of the Group.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors acknowledges its
responsibility to prepare the Company’s accounts
for each financial period to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flows for that period. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010, the Board has selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are prudent,
fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a
going concern basis. The Directors are responsible
for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent

and detect fraud and other irregularities.

AUDITORS' STATEMENT

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibilities in the auditors’ report on the
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

Hong Kong, 24 March 2011
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Independent Auditor's Report

PRICEAMATERHOUSE( QOPERS

B S et PricewaterhouseCoopers
BOERKESFTMERF 22/F, Prince's Building

Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “"Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 39 to 103, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 09E110330174Auditors

37



38

/ Good Friend International Holdings Inc. / Annual Report 2010

Independent Auditor’'s Report

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2011

Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas File name: 09E110330174Auditors




Annual Report 2010 / Good Friend International Holdings Inc. /

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’'000
Revenue 5 1,374,183 776,838
Cost of revenue 7 (1,018,648) (562,037)
Gross profit 355,535 214,801
Other income 6 20,674 12,695
Distribution and selling expenses 7 (110,404) (72,738)
Administrative expenses 7 (84,544) (40,951)
Other operating expenses 7 (3,000) (1,559)
Excess of the net fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of
business acquired over cost 34 19,006 -
Operating profit 197,267 112,248
Finance costs 9 (3,461) (4,564)
Profit before income tax 193,806 107,684
Income tax expense 10 (35,060) (23,539)
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 158,746 84,145
Earnings per share attributable to
the equity holders of the Company during
the year (expressed in RMB per share)
Basic and diluted earnings per share 12 0.41 0.25

The notes on page 47 to 103 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.

Dividends

13

100,800 70,560
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit for the year 158,746 84,145
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences 27 (161) -
Other comprehensive income for the year (161) -
Total comprehensive income for the year 158,585 84,145
Attributable to:
- Equity holders of the company 158,585 84,145

The notes on pages 47 to 103 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2010 2009
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Land use rights 14 41,310 42,253
Property, plant and equipment 15 228,404 183,615
Investment property 16 2,042 8,837
Intangible assets 17 16,623 2,726
Investment in jointly controlled entities 19 8,192 -
Deferred income tax assets 31 5,545 5,235
Deposits for purchases of plant and equipment 20,146 2,443
322,262 245,109
Current assets
Inventories 22 341,829 209,534
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 21 428,298 262,140
Amounts due from customers for contract work 23 22,943 17,198
Amount due from ultimate holding company 35 139 588
Amounts due from and prepayment to a fellow subsidiary
and associates of ultimate holding company 35 3,436 -
Restricted bank deposits 24 29,158 23,919
Cash and cash equivalents 25 161,045 68,137
986,848 581,516
Total assets 1,309,110 826,625
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Ordinary shares 26 4,022 3,431
Share premium 27 271,792 66,596
Capital reserves 27 77,338 77,338
Other reserves 27 44,764 37,179
Retained earnings 27 220,447 178,311
—Proposed final dividend - 40,320
—Others 220,447 137,991
Total equity 618,363 362,855
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)

Job Type: AR Translator: Non acc: Client/Acc: Lammas

File name: 12E110330174Con BS

41



42 / Good Friend International Holdings Inc. / Annual Report 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 30 6,614 10,241
Deferred income tax liabilities 31 15,788 4,943
22,402 15,184
Current liabilities
Creditors, other payables and accrued charges 28 454,057 291,655
Amounts due to customers for contract work 23 15,674 18,576
Amount due to immediate holding company 35 2,213 6,448
Amount due to a joint venture company 35 7,335 -
Current income tax liabilities 11,783 9,406
Warranty provision 29 8,099 5,204
Borrowings 30 169,184 117,297
668,345 448,586
Total liabilities 690,747 463,770
Total equity and liabilities 1,309,110 826,625
Net current assets 318,503 132,930
Total assets less current liabilities 640,765 378,039

The notes on pages 47 to 103 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 39 to 103 were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2011 and were
signed on its behalf.

Chu Chih-Yaung Chen Hsiang-Jung
Director Director
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Company Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 -
Investment in subsidiaries 18 52,837 52,837
Investment in jointly controlled entities 19 8,192 -
Current assets
Deposit and prepayments 21 154 942
Amounts due from subsidiaries 18 312,350 150,585
Cash and cash equivalents 25 2,745 1,704
315,249 153,231
Total assets 376,286 206,068
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Ordinary shares 26 4,022 3,431
Share premium 27 271,792 66,596
Other reserves 27 12,136 12,136
Retained earnings 27 32,511 73,173
— Proposed final dividend - 40,320
— Others 32,511 32,853
Total equity ] 320461 155336
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 30 6,614 10,241
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
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Company Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 822 797
Amounts due to subsidiaries 18 2,094 2,146
Borrowings 30 46,295 37,548
49,211 40,491
Total liabilities 55,825 50,732
Total equity and liabilities 376,286 206,068
Net current assets 266,038 112,740
Total assets less current liabilities 327,075 165,577

The notes on pages 47 to 103 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 39 to 103 were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2011 and were
signed on its behalf.

Chu Chih-Yaung Chen Hsiang-Jung
Director Director
Company Name: Good Fri (B) Size: 210mm x 285mm (Non Acc:5C (3272C+CMYK)+Acc:2C(3272C+K)) - Date: 08/04/2011 (21:08)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2010

Share Share Capital Other Retained Total
capital premium reserves reserves earnings equity
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Balance at 1 January 2009 3,431 66,596 77,338 37,179 144,566 329,110
Total comprehensive income - - - - 84,145 84,145
Dividends paid - - - - (50,400) (50,400)
Balance at 31 December 2009 3,431 66,596 77,338 37,179 178,311 362,855
Profit for the year - - - - 158,746 158,746
Currency translation
difference - - - (161) - (161)
Total comprehensive income - - - (161) 158,746 158,585
Proceeds from issuance of
Taiwan Depository Receipts
("TDRs") 26 591 205,196 - - - 205,787
Dividends paid 13 - - - - (108,864) (108,864)
Appropriations to reserve 27 - - - 7,746 (7,746) -
Balance at 31 December 2010 4,022 271,792 77,338 44,764 220,447 618,363

The notes on pages 47 to 103 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 32 78,398 165,330
Income tax and withholding tax paid (31,213) (8,826)
Income tax refunded - 5,306
Transaction costs in relation to a business combination 34 422 -
Net cash generated from operating activities 47,607 ________161810
Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in a joint venture company (8,192) -
Cash paid for acquiring a business 34 (14,759) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (“PPE") (70,984) (32,427)
Proceeds from sale of PPE 32 1,956 1,576
Purchases of intangible assets (524) (1,060)
Interest received 1,321 688
Increase in restricted bank deposits (5,239) (15,137)
Net cash used in investing activities . (96.421) _______(46360)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of TDRs 26, 27 205,787 -
Proceeds from borrowings 345,036 240,591
Repayments of borrowings (296,776) (286,815)
Dividends paid to equity holders (108,864) (50,400)
Interests paid (3,461) (4,564)
Net cash generated from/lused in) financing activities ____________________’ 141,722 (101,188) _
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 92,908 14,262
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 25 68,137 53,875
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 25 161,045 68,137
The notes on pages 47 to 103 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are engaged in design
and production of computer numerical control machine tools, three dimensional car parking garage structures and
forklift trucks.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman Ky-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Stock Exchange”) since 11 January 2006. In addition, 67,200,000 units of Taiwan depositary receipts (“TDRs"),
representing 67,200,000 newly issued shares of the Company, were issued and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“Taiwan Stock Exchange”) on 18 March 2010.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2011.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRS). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the

historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new standards and amendments to standards are mandatory for the first time for the

financial year beginning 1 January 2010.

° HKFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’, and consequential amendments to HKAS 27,
‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’, HKAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’, and
HKAS 31, ‘Interests in joint ventures’, are effective prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period

beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures(Continued)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (Continued)

The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations
but with some significant changes compared with HKFRS 3. For example, all payments
to purchase a business are recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent
payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the statement of
comprehensive income. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs are

expensed.

The revised standards were applied to the acquisition of a business and the related group of

assets and employees in Italy during the year. See note 34 for further details.

HKAS 27 (revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be
recorded in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result
in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control
is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss. HKAS 27 (revised) had no significant impact on the current

period, as there were no transactions with non-controlling interests.

HKAS 38 (amendment) clarifies guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combination and permits the grouping of intangible assets as a single
asset if each asset has similar useful economic lives. The revised standards were applied to
the acquisition of a business and the related group of assets and employees from an lItalian

company during the year. See note 34 for further details.

HKAS 17 (amendment), ‘Leases’, deletes specific guidance regarding classification of leases
of land, so as to eliminate inconsistency with the general guidance on lease classification.
As a result, leases of land should be classified as either finance or operating lease using
the general principles of HKAS 17, i.e. whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee. Prior to the amendment, land
interest which title is not expected to pass to the Group by the end of the lease term was
classified as operating lease under "“Leasehold land and land use rights”, and amortised over

the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued))

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (Continued)

e  HKAS 17 (amendment) has been applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning

1 January 2010 in accordance with the effective date and transitional provisions of the

amendment. The Group has reassessed the classification of unexpired leasehold land and

land use rights as at 1 January 2010 on the basis of information existing at the inception of

those leases, and concluded that no classification was required to be made according to the

amendment.

(6) The following new and amended standards, and interpretations mandatory for the first time for the

financial year beginning 1 January 2010 but not currently relevant to the Group (although they may

affect the accounting for future transactions and events)

HK(IFRIC) 17

HK(IFRIC) 18

HK(FRIC) 9 (amendment)
HK(IFRIC) 16 (amendment)

HKAS 1 (amendment)
HKAS 36 (amendment)
HKFRS 2 (amendments)

HKFRS 5 (amendment)

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners
Transfers of assets from customers
Reassessment of embedded derivatives
Hedges of a net investment in
a foreign operation
Presentation of financial statements
Impairment of assets
Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions,
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations’

(c) New standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the

financial year beginning 1 January 2010 and have not been early adopted

HKFRS 9

HKAS 24 (revised)
‘Classification of rights issues’
IFRIC/HK (IFRIC) = Int 19
Prepayments of a minimum

funding requirement’

Financial instruments

Related party disclosures

(amendment to IAS/HKAS 32)

‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’
(amendments to IFRIC/HK (IFRIC) — Int 14)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries and Business Combination

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half
of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated

from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary/a business is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate

share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the

statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes
in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on the basis of dividend

and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(b) Joint venture

Joint venture is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, joint venture
accompanying a shareholding of 50% of the voting right. Investments in joint venture are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group's investment in

joint venture includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The Group's share of its joint venture's post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised
in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses in an joint venture equals or
exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's interest in the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of joint venture have

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in joint venture are recognised in the income statement.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors that makes

strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional and the

/ .
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net

investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the income statement within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are

presented in the income statement within ‘other (losses)/gains — net’.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued))
(c) Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments,
are taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of the

gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

— Buildings 20 years
— Machinery and equipments 10 years
— Office and computer equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each

reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 2.8).

Construction in progress represents property in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready

for intended use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are

recognised within ‘Other (losses)/gains — net’ in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by

the Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lines of 20 years.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in

the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are

recognised in the statement of consolidated comprehensive income.

2.7 Intangible assets

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired
in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licences have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of investments non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use — are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are

reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary or
jointly controlled entities in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the

investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Financial assets
2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its

financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets.
The Group's receivables comprise ‘Debtors, deposit and prepayments’, '"Amount due from ultimate
holding company’, ‘Amounts due from and prepayment to a fellow subsidiary and associates of
ultimate holding company’, ‘restricted bank deposit’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance
sheet (notes 2.13 and 2.14).

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Receivables are subsequently carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis

or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets
(a)  Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or

group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss
include:

e Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
e Abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

e The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to

the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
e It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
e The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
e  Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash

flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the

decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.12

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

e adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio;
e national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an

instrument'’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement
in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in

the consolidated income statement.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Group uses the
criteria refer to (a) above. In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity
and recognised in the separate consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised in
the separate consolidated income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the
separate consolidated income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument
classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed

through the separate consolidated income statement.

Impairment testing of trade and other receivables is described in note 2.14.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted

average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour,

other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes

borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less

applicable variable selling expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held

at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Trade payables

2.17

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-

current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of

the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement

of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are

capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the

related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly

controlled entities, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary

difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities

where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leaves are recognised when they accrue to employees. Provisions are
made for the estimated liability for annual leaves as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the balance sheet date.

Pension obligations

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes (“MPF”) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the assets of which are generally held
in separate trustee administered funds. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from
employees and by the Group. The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement

schemes are expensed as incurred.

The Group also contributes to employee retirement schemes established by municipal governments in
Mainland China. The municipal governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of the Group. Contributions to these schemes are charged to

the statement of consolidated comprehensive income as incurred.

Bonus plans

Provisions for bonus plan due wholly within twelve months after the balance sheet date are recognised

where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.20 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values where there is reasonable assurance that grant will

be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Government grants relating to costs are

deferred and recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period necessary

to match them with the cost that they are intended to compensate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount

has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the

likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest

expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns,

rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group's activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into

consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of machine tools and forklift trucks are recognised when goods are delivered and title has been

passed.

(b) Revenue from construction of parking garage structures for contract customers is recognised based on
the percentage of completion of the contract, provided that the revenue, the costs incurred and the
estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is estimated
by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under the

contract. Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by the management.

(c) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired receivables are recognised using the original

effective interest rate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Parking garage structures contracts

Where the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance
sheet date, as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to
the estimated total contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to

the extent that they have been agreed with the customers.

Where the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Where it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is

recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is shown as an amount due from customers for contract work. For contracts where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the
surplus is shown as an amount due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related
work is performed are included in the consolidated balance sheet, as a liability, as amounts due to customers
for contract work. Amount billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the

consolidated balance sheet under amounts due from customers for contract work.

Operating Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from

the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the
Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's

shareholders or directors where appropriate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group and the Company are mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars against RMB. This foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions or recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency of RMB. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures and it has not hedged its foreign exchange risk.

Management considers that the Group’s and Company'’s foreign exchange risk is significant.

Group

At 31 December 2010, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2009: 5%) against the Hong Kong
dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB2,090,000 higher/lower (2009: approximately RMB1,048,000 higher/lower).

At 31 December 2010, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2009: 5%) against the United
States dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB4,096,000 higher/lower (2009: approximately RMB1,569,000 higher/lower).

Company

At 31 December 2010, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2009: 5%) against the United
States dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB2,527,000 higher/lower (2009: approximately RMB2,38%,000 higher/lower)

The Company does not have significant foreign exchange risk arising from Hong Kong dollars and Euro as
the Company does not have significant financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in Hong Kong

dollars or Euro.

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of the

foreign exchange control promulgated by the Mainland China Government.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Interest rate risk

(c)

The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its variable-rate
bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2010, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group's and the Company's profit before taxation would have
been approximately RMB130,000 (2009: approximately RMB177,000 lower/higher) and approximately
RMB&0,000 lower/higher (2009: approximately RMB230,000 lower/higher) respectively. The sensitivity
analysis has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is arising from debtors and
deposits, amounts due from customers for contract work, amounts due from ultimate holding company,
a fellow subsidiary and an associate of ultimate holding company, as well as restricted bank deposits and

cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated balance sheet.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is arising from deposits,
amounts due from subsidiaries and cash and cash equivalents as stated in the company standalone

balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team of personnel
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and implementation of monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount due from each individual trade customer at each balance sheet date in

order provide for impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with credit ratings not lower than Baa2 (2009: Baa2) assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.

Other than cash and cash equivalents which are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the

Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

In order to manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains cash and cash equivalents and
unused credit facilities at a level which is deemed to be adequate by management to finance the Group's
operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group had unused credit lines of
RMB115,590,000 (2009: RMB132,681,000) as at 31 December 2010. Management monitor the utilisation
of credit facilities and draw-down of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with the relevant loan
covenants. The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings

based on the remaining period between balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates.

Between
Less than 3 months Between Between
3 months and 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years Over 5 years
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Group
At 31 December 2010
Creditors, other payables
and accrued charges 454,057 - - - -
Borrowings 118,710 50,812 6,627 - -
Amounts due to customers
for contract work 15,674 - - - -
Amounts due to immediate
holding company 2,213 - - - -
Amounts due to a Joint
venture company 7,335 - - - -
At 31 December 2009
Creditors, other payables
and accrued charges 291,655 - - - -
Borrowings 43,616 73,780 10,250 - -
Amounts due to customers
for contract work 18,576 - - - -
Amounts due to immediate
holding company 6,448 - - - -
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Between
Less than 3 months and Between Between
3 months 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years Over 5 years
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Company
At 31 December 2010
Other payables and
accrued charges 822 - - - -
Amounts due
to subsidiaries 2,094 - - - -
Borrowings 26,621 19,966 6,656 - -
At 31 December 2009
Other payables and
accrued charges 797 - - - -
Amounts due
to subsidiaries 2,146 - - - -
Borrowings - 37,575 10,248 - -

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group manage its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes bank borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising paid-in capital, share

premium and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As a part of this review, the directors
of the Company assess the annual budget prepared by various departments, which takes into account future
expansion plans and sources of funding. Based on the proposed annual budget, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of the capital and the risk associated with each class of capital. The directors of the Company
also balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the

issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total borrowings (note 30) 175,798 127,538
Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 25) (161,045) (67,137)
Net debt 14,753 60,401
Total equity 618,363 362,855
Total capital 633,116 423,256
Gearing ratio 2% 14%

The decrease in the gearing ratio during 2010 resulted primarily from the issue of Taiwan depository receipts
("TDRs") (note 26).

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial instruments are measured in the balance sheet at fair value, which requires disclosure of fair value

measurements by level of fair value measurement hierarchy. The different levels have been defined as follows:
e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

*  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no financial instrument which had been stated at fair value.

The carrying amounts less impairment provision of receivables and payables are a reasonable approximation

of their fair values due to their short-term maturities.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year are addressed below.

(a) Revenue from construction of parking garage structures

When the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract can be estimated reliably,
the Group recognises the related revenue based on the percentage-of-completion method, which is
measured by the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total
contract costs. Estimated total costs to be incurred under each contract are regularly reviewed during the
whole term of the contract. Recognition of this revenue is made based on performance measurement.
It involves an estimation process and is subject to risks and uncertainties inherent in projecting future
events. A number of internal and external factors can affect our estimates, including different cost
components applied to different parking garage structures being constructed; and efficiency of the
Group's employees undertaking the construction. Recognised revenue and profit are subject to revisions
as the respective contract progress to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the revision becomes known.

Accordingly, any changes in the Group's estimates would impact the Group's future operating results.

(b) Estimated impairment of trade debtots

The Group makes provision for impairment of trade debtors based on an estimate of the recoverability
of the debtors. Provisions are applied to debtors where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of impairment of debtors requires the use
of estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
carrying amount of the debtors and provision for impairment losses in the year in which such estimate has

been changed.

As at 31 December 2010, provision for impairment of trade debtors amounting to approximately
RMB29,656,000 (2009: RMB25,866,000) had been recognised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

Machinery and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the higher of fair value of the machinery and equipment less costs to sell
or the value-in-use calculations. An impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is less than expected, a

material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group reported accumulated impairment loss for certain machinery
and equipment at RMB1,369,000 (2009: RMB1,369,000). In the segments where the above-mentioned
impairment was determined, the 'fair value less costs to sell’ of the remaining machinery and equipment
and other assets identified within the scope of HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” had been assessed to be

in excess of their respective carrying values. No additional impairment was considered necessary.

Income taxes

Most of the subsidiaries of the Group are subject to income taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in the financial period in which such determination is

made.

Fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in the business combination

from Sachman Rambaudi

The fair value of the identifiable assets acquired in the business combination from Sachman Rambaudi
(Note 34) at its acquisition date have been determined based on relief from royalty method and cost
replacement method. These calculations require the use of certain key assumptions. Changing such key
assumptions selected by management, including the discount rate, royalty rate and estimate useful life,

could materially affect the fair value of the acquired intangible assets and the gain on bargain purchases.

The details of key assumptions used for calculations are stated in note 34.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive directors (the “Executive Directors”) of
the Company. The Executive Directors review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports reviewed by the
Executive Directors that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors consider that the Group has three reportable segments: (1) machine tools; (2) parking
garage structure; and (3) forklift trucks.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on their respective gross profit.
The Group does not allocate operating costs or assets to its segments, as the Executive Directors do not use this

information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the operating segments. Therefore, the Group
does not report a measure of profit for each reportable segment and total assets.

Parking
Machine Garage Forklift
Tools structures Trucks Total Group
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
For the year ended
31 December 2010
Revenue
(all from external sales) 1,135,468 88,062 150,653 1,374,183
Cost of revenue (813,991) (73,254) (131,403) (1,018,648)
Segment profit 321,477 14,808 19,250 355,535
Parking
Machine Garage Forklift
Tools structures Trucks Total Group
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
For the year ended
31 December 2009
Revenue
(all from external sales) 615,450 83,776 77,612 776,838
Cost of revenue (414,185) (77,146) (70,706) (562,037)
Segment profit 201,265 6,630 6,906 214,801

Majority of all the Group's operations and assets are located in the PRC and the Group mainly sells to the PRC
market.
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6 OTHER INCOME

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Sales of scrap materials 6,485 2,265
Net exchange gain 6,660 2,553
Government subsidies 1,825 774
Repair income 2,190 3,374
Rental income from investment properties 335 1,679
Interest income 1,321 688
Others 1,858 1,362
20,674 12,695
7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost of inventories sold 957,498 529,175
Sales commission 23,285 15,377
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,880 14,899
Depreciation of investment properties 133 329
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,836 827
Amortisation of land use rights 943 943
Operating lease rental on land and buildings 5,993 4,437
Employee benefit expenses (note 8) 89,801 56,500
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts, net 5,540 (12,311)
Allowance for inventories, net (2,903) 3,765
Auditor’s remuneration 1,149 1,220
Provision for warranty 9,465 4,282
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 732 282
Research and development expense* 39,428 22,962
Transportation Fees 15,641 8,000
Others 51,175 26,598

Total cost of revenue, distribution and selling expenses,
administrative expenses and other expenses 1,216,596 677,285

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortisation of intangible assets and employee benefit expenses amounting
to RMB1,311,000, RMB205,000 and RMB10,156,000 was included in research and development expenses respectively (2009:
RMB1,064,000, RMB171,000 and RMB6,391,000 respectively.)
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Wages and salaries 66,101 42,982
Bonus 18,844 9,168
Welfare and other allowance 10,917 8,528
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 4,095 2,213
99,957 62,891
(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of each director is set out below:
Year ended 31 December 2010
Chen Chiu Koo
Chu Chih- Hsiang- Chen Wen Rung-  Fook Sun, Chiang
Yaung Jung Min-Ho  Chi-Tang Hsien Louis Chun-Te  Yu Yu-Tang Total
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
Fees 180 180 144 144 144 174 87 87 1,140
180 180 144 144 144 174 87 87 1,140
Year ended 31 December 2009
Chen Chiu Koo
Chu Chih- Hsiang- Chen Wen Rung-  Fook Sun, Chiang
Yaung Jung Min-Ho  Chi-Tang Hsien Louis Chun-Te  Yu Yu-Tang Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Fees 180 180 144 144 144 176 88 88 1,144
180 180 144 144 144 176 88 88 1,144
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION) (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, none (2009: none) was a director of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 8(a) above. The emoluments of the five

(2009: five) individuals were as follows:

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries and allowances 3,747 1,544
Bonus 2,957 1,011
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 139 83
6,843 2,638

The emolument fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000

Emolument bands (in HKD)
Less than HKD1,000,000 1 5
HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 3 -
HKD2,000,000 — HKD2,500,000 1 -

9 FINANCE COSTS
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Interest expense:
- Bank borrowings wholly repayable within 5 years 3,461 4,564
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2010 2009

RMB’'000 RMB’000

Enterprise income tax 33,225 17,370
Deferred tax (note 31) 1,835 6,169
35,060 23,539

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group did not have any assessable profit arising in
Hong Kong for both years.

Enterprise income tax (“EIT") is provided for enterprises in the PRC and Italy based on the profit reported for
statutory financial reporting purposes. In 2008, Hangzhou Good Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou

Good Friend”) was approved the New and High-Tech Enterprise status by the relevant government authorities, it is

entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15% for a three-year period commencing 2008. Accordingly, the applicable tax rate
for Hangzhou Good Friend in 2010 is 15% (2009: 15%).

Certain group companies have unused tax loss.

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted

average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Profit before income tax 193,806 107,684
Tax calculated at weighted average enterprise income tax rates
at 16% (2009: 15%) 31,484 16,153
Tax effects of:
- Income not subject to tax (6,267) (1,847)
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,481 2,301
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (363) -
— Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 399 1,469
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries in the PRC 7,693 4,943
Others 633 520
Tax charge 35,060 23,539
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11

12

13

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The profit attributable to equity holders of the company is dealt with in the financial statements of the company to
the extent of approximately RMBé48,202,000 (2009: RMB75,826,000).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB158,746,000 (2009: RMB84,145,000) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
of 389,760,000 (2009: 336,000,000).

2010 2009

Basic and Diluted earnings per share (RMB per share) 0.41 0.25

There were no potential dilutive shares in issue for both years.

DIVIDENDS

The dividends paid in 2010 and 2009 were RMB108,864,000 (RMBO0.28 per share) and RMB50,400,000 (RMBO.15 per
share) respectively. At a meeting of directors held on 24 March 2011, the directors resolved to recommend a final
dividend of RMB0.10 (2009: RMBO0.12) per share for the year ended 31 December 2010. This proposed dividend was

not recognised as dividend payable in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Interim dividend paid of RMBO0.15 (2009: RMB0.09)
per ordinary share 60,480 30,240
Proposed final dividend of RMB0.10 (2009: RMB0.12)
per ordinary share 40,320 40,320
100,800 70,560

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 is to be declared out of the share premium of
the Company.

The aggregate amounts of the dividends paid and proposed during 2010 and 2009 have been disclosed in

the consolidated income statement in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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14 LAND USE RIGHTS - GROUP

The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments in the PRC held on leases of

between 10 to 50 years and their net book value are analysed as follows:

2010 2009

RMB’'000 RMB’000

At 1 January 42,253 43,196
Amortisation (943) (943)
At 31 December 41,310 42,253

Bank borrowings outstanding as at 31 December 2010 were secured by land use rights of carrying value of

RMB 13,847,000 (2009: RMB14,156,000) (note 30).

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — GROUP
Machinery Office and
and computer Motor Construction
Buildings equipment equipment vehicles  in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Cost
At 1 January 2009 73,812 88,396 16,900 10,036 31,282 220,426
Additions - 26,766 2,235 772 28,745 58,518
Transfers 22,341 1,352 - - (23,693) -
Transferred to investment

properties (note 16) (11,244) - - - - (11,244)
Disposals - (46) (1,498) (2,128) - (3,672)
At 31 December 2009 and

1 January 2010 84,909 116,468 17,637 8,680 36,334 264,028
Exchange differences - 31 4 2 - 37
Additions - 5,191 5,578 3,728 40,188 54,685
Acquisition from a business

combination (note 34) - 3,566 492 227 - 4,285
Transfers 20,665 5,235 - - (25,900) -
Transferred from investment

properties (note 16) 8,280 - - - - 8,280
Disposals (270) (3,046) (1,475) (1,116) - (5,907)
At 31 December 2010 113,584 127,445 22,236 11,521 50,622 325,408
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP (Continued)

Machinery Office and
and computer

Motor Construction

Buildings equipment equipment vehicles  in progress Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment
At 1 January 2009 18,203 34,428 11,335 4,376 - 68,342
Provided for the year 3,833 7,909 2,418 1,803 - 15,963
Transferred to investment

properties (note 16) (2,078) - - - - (2,078)
Disposals - (34) (1,206) (574) - (1,814)
At 31 December 2009 and

1 January 2010 19,958 42,303 12,547 5,605 - 80,413
Exchange differences - 1 - - - 1
Provided for the year 4,708 10,285 1,953 1,245 - 18,191
Transferred from investment

properties (note 16) 1,618 - - - - 1,618
Disposals (110) (1,386) (1,090) (633) - (3,219)
At 31 December 2010 26,174 51,203 13,410 6,217 - 97,004
Net book amount
At 31 December 2010 87,410 76,242 8,826 5,304 50,622 228,404
At 31 December 2009 64,951 74,165 5,090 3,075 36,334 183,615
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP (Continued)

Depreciation expense of RMB13,150,000 (2009: RMB10,622,000) had been charged in ‘cost of goods sold’,
RMB®966,000 (2009: RMB1,375,000) in ‘selling and marketing costs’ and RMB4,075,000 (2009: RMB3,966,000) in

‘administrative expenses’ (note 7).

Lease rental expenses amounting to RMB5,993,000 (2009: RMB4,437,000) relating to leasing of property were

included in the income statement (hote 7).

Bank borrowings outstanding as at 31 December 2010 were secured by buildings for the value of RMB25,911,000
(2009: RMB53,091,000) (note 30).

During the year, the Group terminated the lease agreements of certain portions of its investment property and kept

them for own use. Accordingly, the relevant carrying amount of the investment properties as at the date of change

of usage was transferred to property, plant and equipment.

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — GROUP

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB'000

Opening net book amount at 1 January 8,837 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 15) - 9,166
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 15) (6,662) -
Depreciation (133) (329)
Closing net book amount at 31 December 2,042 8,837

The Group's investment properties are held in PRC with leases under 50 years. The fair value of the investment
properties as at 31 December 2010 was approximately RMB6,830,000, which was assessed by Zhejiang Henji
Appraisal Co., Ltd (“#7/T E2E&EFHBRAF]"), an independent valuer in the PRC, based on open market values

of similar properties in the region where these properties are located.
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP

Trademarks Technology
and licences know-how Software Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2009
Cost - - 5,293 5,293
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment - - (2,629) (2,629)
Net book amount - - 2,664 2,664
Year ended 31 December 2009
Opening net book amount - - 2,664 2,664
Additions - - 1,060 1,060
Amortisation charge (note 7) - - (998) (998)
Closing net book amount - - 2,726 2,726
At 31 December 2009
Cost - - 6,353 6,353
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment - - (3,627) (3,627)
Net book amount - - 2,726 2,726
Year ended 31 December 2010
Opening net book amount - - 2,726 2,726
Exchange difference 69 58 - 127
Additions - - 524 524
Acquisition from a business
combination (note 34) 8,037 7,250 - 15,287
Amortisation charge (note 7) (436) (364) (1,247) (2,0471)
Closing net book amount 7,670 6,944 2,009 16,623
At 31 December 2010
Cost 8,102 7,309 6,877 22,888
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (432) (365) (4,868) (5,665)
Net book amount 7,670 6,944 2,009 16,623

Amortisation of RMB364,000 (2009: Nil) and RMB1,677,000 (2009: RMB998,000) have been charged in cost of
revenue and administrative expenses (note 7).
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18 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB'000

Investments — unlisted shares, at cost: 52,837 52,837
Amount due from subsidiaries 312,350 150,585
Amount due to subsidiaries (2,094) (2,146)

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December 2010:

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid-up share capital/

Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held

Directly held subsidiaries

Winning Steps Ltd BVI Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
usD110

Yu Hwa Holdings Ltd. BVI Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
USD1,500,000

Hai Sheng International BVI Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%

Holdings Inc USD200,000

Sky Thrive Investment Ltd BVI Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
USD5,000,000

Kai Win Group Ltd BVI Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
USD1
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18 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid-up share capital/

Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held
Indirectly held subsidiaries
Full Moral Industrial Ltd Hong Kong Inactive Ordinary shares 100%
HKD1
Winnings Steps Hong Kong  Hong Kong Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
Development Ltd HKD1,000
Yu Hwa Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
Enterprise Ltd HKD1,000
Hai Sheng International Hong  Hong Kong Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
Kong Ltd HKD1,000
Sky Thrive Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment Holding Ordinary shares 100%
Enterprise Ltd HKD1,000
Hangzhou Good Friend PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100%
Precision Machinery Co Ltd computer numerical control USD11,000,000
machine tools, design
and construction of three
dimensional car parking
garage structure
Hangzhou Global Friend PRC Design and assembling of Registered Capital 100%
Precision Machinery Co Ltd forklift trucks UsD10,000,000
Hangzhou Ever Friend PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100%
Precision Machinery Co Ltd computer numerical control USsD3,000,000

machine tools
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18 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid-up share capital/
Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held
Hangzhou Glory Friend PRC Processing of computer Registered Capital 100%
Precision Machinery Co Ltd numerical control machine USD15,000,000
tools
Rich Friend (Shanghai) PRC Trading of computer numerical ~ Registered Capital 100%
Precision Machinery Co Ltd control machine tools USD200,000
Sky Thrive Rambaudi S.r.l. Italy Design and production of Ordinary shares 100%
computer numerical control EUR10,000

machine tools

19 INVESTMENT IN JOINT CONTROLLED ENTITIES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Investments in joint controlled entities 8,192 - 8,192 -
Amount due to joint controlled entities (7,335) - - -

During the current year, the Company invested in two jointly controlled entities in China. Details are as follows:

- In January and July 2010, the Company contributed approximately USD1,155,000 (equivalent to
RMB7,861,000) additional registered capital into Anest lwata Feeler Corporation (“AIF”). AIF was
established by the Company; a third party company, Anest lwata Corporation (“AIC"); and Anest Iwata
Taiwan("AlT"), a_joint venture company of the Company’s ultimate holding company in 2009. After the
additional capital injection, equity interests held by the Company, AIC and AIT in AIF became 35%, 35%

and 30% respectively. The Company adopts equity accounting to account for its interests in AlF.

—  In December 2010, the Company contributed approximately USD50,000 (equivalent to RMB331,000 as
registered capital into Hangzhou Nippon Cable Feeler Corporation (“NCF"). NCF was established by the
Company and Nippon Cable Co., Ltd (“NC"),a third party company. Interests held by the Company and

NC are 50% each. The Company also adopts equity method of accounting to account for this investment.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the net income derived from the joint controlled entities was

immaterial.
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20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables and financial liabilities are at amortised cost.

21 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

Trade debtors and bills receivables 381,143 230,114 - -
Less: provision for impairment of trade

receivables (29,656) (25,866) - -

Trade receivables — net 351,487 204,248 - -

Prepayments 42,091 30,778 - -

Other debtors 34,720 27,114 154 942

Total Debtors, deposits and prepayment 428,298 262,140 154 942

The Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 180 days to its customers. The Group also allows its customers
to retain certain percentage of the outstanding balances as retention money for a one-year warranty period of the

products sold.

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable were as follows:

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Current - 30 days 293,558 165,767
31 - 60 days 10,508 10,008
61 - 90 days 11,510 2,081
91 - 180 days 17,326 7,876
Over 180 days 48,241 44,382
381,143 230,114
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21 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

Deposits to suppliers and other deposits are generally aged within one year.

Included in the Group's trade debtors are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB66,351,000 (2009: RMB46,479,000) which were past due as at 31 December 2010 but the Group had not
provided for impairment loss. The directors, after considering the trade relationship, credit status and past
settlement history of these individual trade debtors, had concluded that these outstanding balances would be
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. There are no historical defaults in payments

from these trade debtors.

The following is an aging analysis of trade debtors which are past due but not impaired:

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’'000

0 - 30 days 10,208 7,998
31 - 60 days 10,164 10,008
61— 90 days 10,998 2,081
91 - 180 days 16,382 7,876
Over 180 days 18,599 18,516
66,351 46,479

As of 31 December 2010, trade debtors of RMB29,656,000 (2009:RMB25,866,000) were impaired and provided for.
The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in unexpected financial difficulties. The

ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2010 2009
91 — 180 days 14 -
Over 6 months 29,642 25,866
29,656 25,866
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21 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT — GROUP AND COMPANY (continued)

Movements of provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB'000

At 1 January 25,866 38,177
Provision for receivables impairment 5,540 -
Receivables written off during the year when proved to be uncollectible (1,750) -
Write-back of allowance - (12,311)
At 31 December 29,656 25,866

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in ‘other operating expenses’ in
the consolidated income statement (note 7). Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off,
when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The carrying amounts of the Group's debtors, deposits and prepayment are denominated in the following

currencies:
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
RMB 395,317 239,097
US dollar 23,862 20,898
Euro 3,487 -
Other currencies 5,632 2,145
428,298 262,140

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable

mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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22 INVENTORIES - GROUP

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 126,894 103,496
Work in progress 101,499 53,420
Finished goods 115,356 57,416
343,749 214,332

Provision (1,920) (4,798)
341,829 209,534

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ‘cost of revenue’ amounted to RMB957,498,000
(2009: RMB529,175,000) (note 7).

During the year, the Group reversed RMB3,675,000 of the provision brought forward as a credit to cost of revenue.
The Group had utilised the related inventory items for its own research and development and production. The

carrying amount of these items were charged as research and development expenses.

23 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK - GROUP

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’'000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 202,114 192,639
Less: Progress billings (194,845) (194,017)
7,269 (1,378)

2010 2009

RMB'000 RMB’000

Amounts due from contract customers 22,943 17,198
Amounts due to contract customers (15,674) (18,576)
Net amounts due from/(to) customers for contract work 7,269 (1,378)

As at 31 December 2010, retention money held by customers for contract work included in debtors amounted to
RMB2,061,000 (2009: RMB2,019,000).
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24 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

The amounts represent deposits placed in banks for guarantees issued for trade finance instruments used by the
Group. The deposits have a maturity period within one year and they carry fixed rate interest at 0.36% (2009: 0.36%)

per annum.

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Cash at bank and on hand 61,645 66,137 2,745 1,704
Short-term bank deposits 99,400 2,000 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 161,045 68,137 2,745 1,704

26 SHARE CAPITAL - GROUP AND COMPANY

Number of shares

(thousands) Nominal value
RMB'000
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each
Authorised:

At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 1,000,000 10,211
Issued and fully paid:

At 31 December 2009 336,000 3,431
Opening balance 1 January 2010 336,000 3,431
Issuance of TDRs 67,200 591
At 31 December 2010 403,200 4,022

On 18 March 2010, the Company issued 67.2 million units of TDRs at NTD14.5 (RMB3.121) per unit (representing
one newly issued ordinary share of the Company) and they have been listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.
The Company received net proceeds amounting to approximately NTD956 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB206 million). Approximately RMB155 million of the proceeds were injected by the Company into its subsidiaries
in the PRC as additional registered capital and the remaining balance of approximately RMB51 million was utilised

for repayment of bank borrowings.
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27 RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group
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Other reserve

Enterprise
Share Capital General  expansion Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve  Translation profits Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2009 66,596 77,338 28,090 9,089 - 144,566 325,679
Dividends paid - - - - - (50,400) (50,400)
Total comprehensive income - - - - - 84,145 84,145
Appropriation to reserves - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2009 66,596 77,338 28,090 9,089 - 178,311 359,424
Issuance of TDRs 205,196 - - - - - 205,196
Dividends paid - - - - - (108,864) (108,864)
Profit for the year - - - - - 158,746 158,746
Currency translation
difference - - - - (167) - (161)
Appropriation to reserves - - 7,746 - - (7,746) -
At 31 December 2010 271,792 77,338 35,836 9,089 (161) 220,447 614,341

Notes:

(i)  Capital reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital/share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries

acquired at nominal value of the Company's shares issued during the time of the corporate reorganisation of the Group

prior to the listing of the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

(i) General reserve and enterprise expansion reserve are set up in accordance with statutory requirements in the PRC.
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27 RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

Company
Share Other Retained
premium reserves profits Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2009 66,596 12,136 47,747 126,479
Dividends paid - - (50,400) (50,400)
Total comprehensive income - - 75,826 75,826
At 31 December 2009 66,596 12,136 73,173 151,905
Issuance of TDRs 205,196 - - 205,196
Dividends paid - - (108,864) (108,864)
Total comprehensive income - - 68,202 68,202
At 31 December 2010 271,792 12,136 32,511 316,439
28 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES - GROUP

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade creditors 167,285 157,174
Advance deposits from customers 218,106 95,053
Other payables 36,103 22,656
Accrued expenses 32,563 16,772
454,057 291,655

The Group normally receives credit terms of 30 to 60 days. At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the ageing analysis of

the trade payables were as follows:

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current — 30 days 128,544 108,094
31 - 60 days 25,296 13,224
61 — 90 days 6,418 14,864
91 - 180 days 4,373 20,846
Over 180 days 2,654 146
167,285 157,174
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28 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES - GROUP (continued)

Creditors, other payables and accrued charges are dominated in the following currencies:

2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB’000
RMB 433,351 288,498
US dollars 8,531 3,157
Euro 12,175 -
454,057 291,655
29 WARRANTY PROVISION - GROUP
2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 5,204 4,426
Provision for the year 9,465 4,282
Utilisation of provision (6,570) (3,504)
At 31 December 8,099 5,204
30 BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
Non-current
_Unsecured 6614 10241 6614 ____ 10,241 _
Current
Secured 980 32,973 - -
Unsecured 168,204 84,324 46,295 37,548
o _____ 169,184 17,297 46,295 . 37,548 _
Total borrowings 175,798 127,538 52,909 47,789
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30 BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates of the Group's borrowing are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Effective interest rates 1.45% to 5.35% 1.20% t0 5.75% 1.47% to 2.57% 1.62% to 4.18%
per annum per annum per annum per annum

At 31 December 2010, the Group's borrowings were repayable as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Within 1 year 169,184 117,297 46,295 37,548
Between 1 and 2 years 6,614 10,241 6,614 10,241

The Group had pledged its land use rights and buildings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB13,847,000
(note 14) and RMB25,911,000 (note 15) respectively (2009: RMB 14,156,000 and RMB53,091,000 respectively) as at 31
December 2010 in order to secure the general banking facilities granted to it.

The fair value of current borrowings as at 31 December 2010 equals their carrying amount because the impact
of discounting is not significant. The fair value was determined based on cash flows discounted using a rate of

borrowing at 2.37% per annum (2009: 3.11% per annum).

The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair value.
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30 BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

31

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
RMB 10,100 34,000 - -
HK dollars 49,594 22,745 - -
US dollars 116,104 70,793 52,909 47,789
175,798 127,538 52,909 47,789

The Group had the following undrawn borrowing facilities as at 31 December 2010:

Group
2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Floating rate loans:

— Expiring within one year 115,590 132,681

The facilities expiring within one year are annual facilities granted by banks which are subject to review at various

dates throughout 2011.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets:
— Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 5,545 5,235
Deferred tax liabilities:
— Deferred tax liability to be recovered
after more than 12 months 2,097 -
— Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months 13,691 4,943
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31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX — GROUP (Continued)

The movement on the deferred income tax assets during the years are as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 5,235 6,461
Credit to/(Charge to) consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 310 (1,226)
At 31 December 5,545 5,235
Group
Allowance
for doubtful Allowance for Warranty
Deferred tax assets receivables inventories provision Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2009 5,700 141 620 6,461
Charge to/(Credit to) consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (1,820) 504 90 (1,226)
At 31 December 2009 3,880 645 710 5,235
Charge to/(Credit to) consolidated
statement of comprehensive income 463 (549) 396 310
At 31 December 2010 4,343 96 1,106 5,545
The gross movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are analysed as follows:
Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 4,943 2,859
Charge to consolidated statement of comprehensive income 6,206 4,943
Settlement (4,426) (2,859)
Deferred tax liabilities arising from
a business combination (nhote 34) 8,700 -
Exchange difference 365 -
At 31 December 15,788 4,943
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31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX — GROUP (Continued)

Group
Withholding tax
on distributable
profit of
subsidiaries in Business
Deferred tax liabilities the PRC combination Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2009 2,859 - 2,859
Charge to/(Credit to) consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 4,943 - 4,943
Settlement (2,859) - (2,859)
At 31 December 2009 4,943 - 4,943
Charge to/(Credit to) consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 7,693 (1,487) 6,206
Settlement (4,426) - (4,426)
Deferred tax liabilities arising from
a business combination (note 34) - 8,700 8,700
Exchange difference - 365 365
At 31 December 2010 8,210 7,578 15,788

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB14,551,000 (2009:
RMB12,993,000) available for offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised as it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

The expiry dates of these tax losses are as follows:

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
With expiry in:
2013 6,814 3,060
2014 6,142 140
2015 1,595 9,793
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32 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Profit before income tax 193,806 107,684
Adjustments for:
— Amortisation of land use rights (note 7) 943 943
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 7) 18,191 15,963
— Depreciation of investment properties (note 7) 133 329
— Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7) 2,041 998
— Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (see below) 732 282
— Interest income (note 6) (1,321) (688)
— Finance costs (hote 9) 3,461 4,564
— Effect on currency exchange difference 41 -
— Excess of net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of a business acquired over cost (note 34) (19,006) -
Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of acquisition and
exchange differences on consolidation):
— (Increase)/decrease in inventories (104,429) 3,497
— Increase in debtors, deposits and prepayments (166,158) (93,047)
— Increase in amounts due from customers for contract work (5,745) (2,539)
— Decrease/(increase) in amount due from ultimate holding company 449 (588)
— (Increase)/decrease in amounts due from a fellow subsidiary and
an associate of ultimate holding company (3,436) 1
— Increase in creditors, other payables and accrued charges 155,603 111,983
— (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to customers for contract work (2,902) 11,174
— (Decrease)/increase in amount due to immediate holding company (4,235) 4,156
— Increase in amount due to a joint venture company 7,335 -
— Increase in warranty provision 2,895 778
— Decrease in amount due to ultimate holding company - (160)
Cash generated from operations 78,398 165,330
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32 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Continued)
In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:
2010 2009
Group RMB’000 RMB'000
Net book amount (note 15) 2,688 1,858
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (732) (282)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,956 1,576
33 COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is analysed as
follows:
2010 2009
Group RMB’000 RMB'000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:
— Capital injection into jointly controlled entities 10,067 4,300
— Acquisition of machinery and equipment 27,097 3,425
37,164 7,725
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33 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group as lessee

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases as follows:

2010 2009
Group RMB’000 RMB’000
No later than 1 year 2,402 2,478
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 2,795 2,061
Later than 5 years 456 608
5,653 5,147

The Group as lessor

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments with tenants for the following minimum lease

payments as follows:

2010 2009
Group RMB’000 RMB’000
No later than 1 year - 683
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years - 680
- 1,363
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 24 June 2010, the Company, through a newly incorporated subsidiary in Italy named Sky Thrive Rambaudi S.r.I.
(ST Rambaudi”), entered into a “Transfer of a Business Concern” agreement with the receiver for the liquidation
of Sachman Rambaudi S.p.a. ("Sachman Rambaudi”), a third party Italian company. Pursuant to the agreement,
ST Rambaudi undertook to acquire certain tangible and intangible assets pertaining certain models of computer
numerical control machine tools owned by Sachman Rambaudi (the “Business”) at an aggregate consideration
of EUR2,259,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB18,890,000). In addition, ST Rambaudi also agreed to take up
certain of the workforce pertaining to these operations. The Company completed the transaction on 19 July 2010.

The directors consider that this acquisition constitute a business combination as defined under HKFRS3R.

An analysis of the respective fair values of the identifiable assets, performed by a third party valuer in Italy, of the

business so acquired and its comparison against the purchase consideration is as follows:

RMB’000
Consideration:
At 19 July 2010
— Paid 14,759
— Payable 4,973
Total consideration 19,732
Acquisition-related costs (included in administrative expenses
in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010) 422
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Property, plant and equipment (note 75) 4,285
Trademarks (included in intangibles) (note 17) 8,037
Technology know-how (included in intangibles) (note 77) 7,250
Inventories 27,866
Deferred tax liabilities (note 37) (8,700)
Total identifiable net assets 38,738
Excess of net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the business acquired over cost (19,006)
19,732
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

The gain of RMB19,006,000 recognised in this transaction was mainly due to the fact that it was a bargain sales of
the business from a company under liquidation in an open auction during the time of the global economic crisis. As

a result, the Group was able to offer a preferential bidding price to win the auction.

The fair value of the trademark was assessed by applying the relief from royalty method. The fair value key

estimates are based on:

(@) an assumed royalty rate of 1.75%;

(b) an assumed useful life of 10 years; and
(c) an assumed discount rate of 16.68%.

The fair value of the technological know-how was assessed by applying the replacement cost method. The fair value

key estimates are based on:

(@) an assumed useful life of 10 years;

(b) an assumed discount rate of 16.68%.

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group since 19 July 2010
which was contributed by ST Rambaudi was RMB10,897,000. ST Rambaudi also contributed profit of approximately
RMB?90,000 over the same period.

Due to the fact that the business acquired was left idle before the acquisition, had the business been consolidated

from 1 January 2010, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income would show revenue and profit of the

same amounts as above.
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35 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, during the year, the Group also had the following

transactions with its related parties:

Transactions

(a)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hangzhou Feeler Takamatsu  Associate of ultimate Sales of goods 499 774
Machinery Co., Ltd. holding company
Fairskq (Taiwan) Co., Ltd Associate of ultimate Sales of goods - 31
holding company
Fair Friend Enterprise Ultimate holding Sales of goods 1,627 972
Company Limited company
("Fair Friend") Purchases of goods 248 21,023
Good Friend (H. K) Immediate holding Purchases of goods 148,123 108,410
Corporation Limited company
("Hong Kong GF")
Hangzhou Fair Fine Electric Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods 152 4
& Machinery Co., Ltd.
("Fair Fine")
Hangzhou Anest lwata Feeler  Jointly controlled Sales of goods 813 -
Corporation('Anest lwata entity
Feeler”)
Hangzhou Best Friend Associate of ultimate Sales of goods 236 -

Technology Co., Ltd.
("Best Friend")

Note:

The terms of the above transactions are governed based on framework agreements entered into between the Company and fair

holding company

Friend or its subsidiaries/associates.
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(b) Balances

Max amount
Name of Nature of outstanding
company Relationship balances 2010 2009 during 2010
RMB'000 RMB’000
Fair Fine Fellow subsidiary Trade receivable 22 - 2,481
(note (a))
Best Friend Associate of ultimate Prepayments 3,276 - 3,276
holding company for purchase
and trade
receivable
(note (a))
Feeler Takamatsu Associate of ultimate Trade receivable 138 - 441
holding company (note (a)
Fair Friend Ultimate holding Trade receivable 139 588 1,237
company (note (a))
Hong Kong GF Immediate holding Trade payable (2,213) (10,084) (17,450)
company (note (b))
Trade receivable - 3,636 -
(note (a))
(2,213) (6,448) 17.450
Anest lwata Feeler  Jointly controlled Trade payable (7,335) - (7,335)
entities (note (b))
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Notes:

(@)  The Group allowed a normal credit period of 90 days for sales made to the fellow subsidiary and the ultimate holding
company and its associates. Balances are unsecured and interest free. As of 31 December 2010 and 2009, the aging of
above balances were mostly within 6 months.

(b) Balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(c) Key management compensation

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Salaries and other allowances 2,917 2,595

HOLDING COMPANIES

The directors regard Good Friend (H.K.) Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and Fair
Friend Enterprise Company Limited, a company incorporated in Taiwan, as being the immediate holding company

and the ultimate holding company respectively.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

In prior years/periods, the Company presented its research and development expenses separately in cost of
revenue, distribution and selling expenses, and administrative expenses. During the year ended 31 December 2010,
the Company changed its mode of presentation of these expenses by aggregating them as a component of its
administrative expenses only. The directors of the Company consider this presentation format would give readers of
the financial statements more useful information. Accordingly, the prior period comparative figures were reclassified

to conform with the current period’s presentation.

38 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no significant subsequent events occurred from 1 January 2011 up to the date of approval of these

financial statements.
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OPERATING RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

Revenue 611,003 821,367 730,517 776,838 1,374,183

Gross profit 153,158 214,351 180,017 214,801 355,535

Profit before taxation 57,370 95,954 32,141 107,684 193,806
Profit for the year attributable to

equity holders of the Company 53,082 84,885 21,853 84,145 158,746

Earnings per share — basic (RMB) 0.16 0.25 0.07 0.25 0.41
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

Non-current assets 145,077 177,064 232,939 245,109 322,262

Net current assets 151,775 170,513 99,030 132,930 318,503

Total assets less current liabilities 296,852 347,577 331,969 378,039 640,765

Share capital 2,882 3,431 3,431 3,431 4,022

Reserves 293,970 344,146 325,679 359,424 614,341

Shareholders’ equity 296,852 347,577 329,110 362,855 618,363

Non-current liabilities - - 2,859 15,184 22,402

296,852 347,577 331,969 378,039 640,765
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